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Tuesday, April 19, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  My name is Emad Elsayed, and I will be presiding over this proceeding.  With me on the panel is Board member Mr. Paul Pastirik.


The OEB sits today on the matter of an application filed by Union Gas Limited on January 14th, 2016 under section 90 of the Ontario Energy Board Act for leave to construct a natural gas pipeline and ancillary service facilities to serve the growing greenhouse market in the Municipality of Leamington.


As described in Procedural Order No. 2, the OEB initially decided to hold an oral hearing to address two issues:  First, the project economics and Union's proposed method for cost recovery, and second, the land issues raised by Hydro One in its interrogatories regarding the separation between Union's proposed gas line and Hydro One's proposed transmission line.


In Procedural Order No. 3 the OEB granted Hydro One's requested leave to file additional evidence and also provided for Union to file responding evidence related to the second issue.


Examination of the additional evidence filed by Hydro One and Union will be included in this proceeding -- in this hearing.


Lastly, the OEB will offer Union the opportunity to provide its argument in-chief at the end of the oral hearing today.


You should all have a copy of the hearing plan, which is based on the time estimates provided by the various parties.


May I have appearances, please.

Appearances:

MR. SMITH:  Good morning, members of the Board.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I appear as counsel on behalf of Union.  To my left is Bill Wachsmuth of Union Gas.


DR. ELSAYED:  Morning.


MR. SMITH:  Morning.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Good morning, members of the Board.  My name is Michael Engelberg.  I appear as counsel for the intervenor, Hydro One Networks Inc.  I have with me to my right Joanne Richardson, director of major projects and partnerships from regulatory affairs and, to her right, Mr. Pasquale Catalano, a regulatory affairs advisor in our regulatory affairs department.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Good morning.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro.  I'm counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Mr. Pastirik.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and to my right today is Mr. Laurie Gluck.


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  Any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:

MR. SMITH:  There are no preliminary matters, members of the Board, other than, you should have, I believe, in front of you two items that I would like to mark as an exhibit.  The first is Union's letter dated April 15, 2016 which attaches the curriculum vitaes of the Union witnesses, and you should also have some -- attached to that are some large-format pictures or some pictures of the pipeline route, as well as an aid that I intend to review with Mr. Hockin, if I could have that marked.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, those are separate documents, are they?


MR. SMITH:  Well, the CVs should be together --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  -- and then the separate documents should be the pictures, as well as the aid to the examination in-chief.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's call the CVs Exhibit K1.1 and the pictures and the aid Exhibit K1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF UNION WITNESSES.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  PICTURES AND AID.

MR. SMITH:  There are no further preliminary matters.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


Okay, Mr. Smith.  If you would like to introduce your panel and then we will affirm them before you do your direct examination.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, thank you very much Mr. Chair.  Allow me to introduce from my left Mr. Patrick Boyer, Mr. Dave Hockin, Mr. Tom Grochmal, and Mr. Bob Gummow, and if I could ask that they be affirmed, that would be appreciated.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1


Patrick Boyer, Affirmed


David Hockin, Affirmed


Tom Grochmal, Affirmed

Bob Gummow, Affirmed

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Smith, I will turn it over to you for your --

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, members of the Board.


Let me start with you, Mr. Boyer, just briefly.  I understand, sir, that you are the manager of the greenhouse retail energy and wholesale markets; is that correct?


MR. BOYER:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that's a position that you have held since 2013?


MR. BOYER:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And what are your responsibilities in that position?


MR. BOYER:  I have responsibility for three account managers and their day-to-day functions with the customers in the greenhouse market in Ontario in Union franchise area.  As well, I also have a relationship with the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers as it relates to issues and concerns that they may have with natural gas in Union's franchise.


MR. SMITH:  I understand, sir, that you have held positions of increasing responsibility with Union since about 1990?


MR. BOYER:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you have a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Windsor?


MR. BOYER:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And a diploma from St. Clair College.


MR. BOYER:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And this is your first time testifying before this Board.


MR. BOYER:  It is.


MR. SMITH:  Welcome.


MR. BOYER:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Hockin, if I can turn to you, I understand that you are the manager of strategic development at Union Gas?


MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  A position that you have held since 2012?


MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been employed now with Union Gas for well over two decades.


MR. HOCKIN:  Almost three.


MR. SMITH:  I understand, sir, that you are a chartered professional accountant?


MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that you have an economics degree from Wilfred Laurier University.


MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And as set out in your curriculum vitae, you have testified before this Board on many, many occasions.


MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And in particular in relation to project economics for projects such as this.


MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Grochmal, I understand that you are the manager of engineering construction?


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you have held that position since 2012?


MR. GROCHMAL:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been employed by Union since 2008.


MR. GROCHMAL:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, sir, you are an electrical engineer?


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  You have a Bachelor of Applied Science from the University of Toronto.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a Ph.D. in electrical engineering from the University of Alberta.

MR. GROCHMAL:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And this, too, is your first time appearing before this Board?

MR. GROCHMAL:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Just briefly, Mr. Hockin, on behalf of the Union witnesses, can I ask whether you adopt Union's evidence, pre-filed evidence, reply evidence, and answers to interrogatories for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And are there any corrections that you would like to make to that evidence?

MR. HOCKIN:  There is one correction that I'm aware of, which is in reply evidence.  I don't know whether that's the exhibit that we referred to or not.

MR. SMITH:  It's in our reply evidence, which you just adopted April 15, 2016?

MR. HOCKIN:  On page 8 of 9, in paragraph 29, there's a typographical error in one of the numbers that turned up.

So paragraph 29, in line 20, it currently reads from a low of 2,700 to a high of 4,780.  The correct number -- the error is the number 2,700.  It is a low of 171 and the high number as represented there is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Are there any other corrections?

MR. HOCKIN:  None I'm aware of.

MR. SMITH:  With the Board's leave, I will return back to Mr. Hockin in a minute.  But at this point, I would like to ask Mr. Gummow some questions, if I may.

Sir, do you have your curriculum vitae handy?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  For members of the Board, that can be found in Union's reply evidence at schedule 5, commencing at page 3 of 18.

Sir, I understand that you are presently a consultant to Corrosion Service?

MR. GUMMOW:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you joined corrosion service in 1962?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  From there, you held positions of increasing Responsibility, ultimately becoming the President of Correng Consulting Services in 1993?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Correng, as I understand it, is a wholly-owned – or was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Corrosion Service Company --


MR. GUMMOW:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  -- providing engineering consulting services?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Am I correct, sir, that the business of Corrosion Service is to provide engineering services to, amongst other companies, pipeline companies?

MR. GUMMOW:  To a large extent, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Do those services include the study of or determination of potential adverse effects of steady state induced AC and power line fault?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And is that a business that it has carried out -- or how long has it carried out that business for?

MR. GUMMOW:  My personal involvement has been since 1978.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And in that business, do you, as part of that, determine the AC interference on pipelines -- and by that I mean include the determination of a safe separation between a pipeline and an electrical tower, such as the tower at issue in this case?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes, we're in situations where the recommended distance of separation is not available particularly.

MR. SMITH:  And we've seen referred to in the materials the mitigation of potential adverse effects.  You've seen that?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Is that also something that have been involved in the determination of?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And is that experience similarly dated back to the late 1970s?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Returning just briefly to your curriculum vitae, sir, I understand that in 2004, you became the president of -- or you became the president and chief executive officer of Corrosion Services?

MR. GUMMOW:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And at that point, as I understand it, you took semi-retirement and have been a consultant ever since?

MR. GUMMOW:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  I understand, sir, that you have an electrical engineering degree from the University of Toronto.

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  You graduated in 1968?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you hold a diploma from Ryerson Polytech as well?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, you are a member of the National Association of Corrosion Engineers.

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And what is that association?

MR. GUMMOW:  It's worldwide association of engineers and others who spend most of their time trying to mitigate corrosion.

MR. SMITH:  And what is the relationship between corrosion and the issues we're dealing with in this case?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, with AC, with the corridor concept of placing pipelines and power lines closer and closer together, we have induction issues that induce voltages and currents into the pipeline.  And these currents, where they transfer to earth, can cause AC corrosion.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are a recognized corrosion specialist within that association?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  If I could ask you to turn to page four of 18, sir, under the heading "NACE teaching activities" -- do you see that?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Am I correct, sir, that you have taught cathodic protection courses over a hundred times since 1978?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And would the courses that you have taught engage the issues at play in this proceeding?

MR. GUMMOW:  The CP3 and CP4 courses, both of those courses cover interference issues, and one of the aspects of the interference is AC interference.

MR. SMITH:  I'll take it that the answer to my question is yes?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  You've also participated, as I see on page 4 of your CV and continuing over to page 5, in a number of technical committees.  Similarly, do those technical committees engage the issues at play in this case?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, T7L3, T10B5, T10C, T10C2 address aspects of AC.

MR. SMITH:  I see.  And looking over on page 5, there is a reference to TG327AC corrosion; what does that relate to?

MR. GUMMOW:  That was the --


MR. SMITH:  As well as TG430; my apologies.

MR. GUMMOW:  TJ327 was a committee that was struck to look into the state of the art with regard to AC corrosion on pipelines, its mechanism, corrosion rates, and mitigation methods.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And how about TG430?

MR. GUMMOW:  TG430 is AC corrosion on cathodically protected pipelines.  This is a standard practice that was developed for assessment of risk associated with having AC power lines and pipelines adjoining.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Beginning on page 6, you have -- and continuing for a number of pages, a list of your general papers and presentations, and then it continues on pages 8 and 9 specifically dealing with pipelines.

I'm just going to draw -- in the interests of time, I'm going to draw you over to pipelines.  But would a number of the papers and presentations you've given as listed there, and in particular under the pipeline heading, relate to the issues in this proceeding?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe for the benefit of the Board if you could just highlight some of those?

MR. GUMMOW:  On page 6 would be AC corrosion, a tutorial, at the Banff Pipeline Workshop.  AC corrosion and cathodic protection in the ACE presentation on the technical exchange committee, 179.

MR. SMITH:  Those just, members of the Board, are about two-thirds of the way down on page 6.

MR. GUMMOW:  And then on page 8, a paper on pipeline AC mitigation misconceptions given at a conference in Calgary in 2010.  And then AC corrosion on cathodically protected pipelines, and it's ECDA implications, which is external corrosion direct assessment implications.  That was given in Houston in 2006.  Case histories of AC and telluric current corrosion on pipelines at Banff in 2003.  Preparations and presentation of a seminar in AC corrosion and telluric current effects on pipelines in their CP systems from Williams Pipeline in the U.S., and Duke Energy in the U.S., and also CP considerations for pipelines with AC mitigation facilities at an ACE conference.  That's National Association of Corrosion Engineers -- conference in November 2000.

MR. SMITH:  And maybe --


MR. GUMMOW:  Page 9 --


MR. SMITH:  I take it there are a number of the presentations on this page as well that would engage the same issues.

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes, the principal one is AC Corrosion:  A New Challenge to Pipeline Integrity.  It was the first paper given in such a subject in North America.

MR. SMITH:  You're referring to the fourth bullet down on page 9?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Now, beginning at page 9, under "pipeline projects" -- I won't ask you to identify all of them, but am I correct, sir, that a number of the projects that you have worked on engaged the determination of AC interference on pipelines, a safe separation and potential mitigation effects if necessary and appropriate?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes, all the AC projects you have to take into account the safe separation distance, so, yes.

MR. SMITH:  In your career, sir, or over your career, approximately how many times have you been engaged in these sorts of issues?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, directly and indirectly with staff and that hundreds of times.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Gummow.

Members of the Board, I'm going to ask that Mr. Gummow be accepted by the Board to provide expert opinion evidence in relation to the determination of AC interference on pipelines, and I include in that the determination of the safe separation between a pipeline and a hydro facility, as well as the mitigation of any potential harm in relation to that distance.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Engelberg, any comments?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm content with that, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Let me continue, sir.  Can I ask you to turn to your letter dated April 14, 2016.  Do you have that?  Should be page 1 of 18, Schedule 5.

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes, I have it.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And in the first paragraph under the "to whom it may concern" you refer to corrosion services experience, and I take it that's the experience you described for us earlier this morning?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And then in the second paragraph you refer to clause 5.3 of the CSA standard C22.3.

MR. GUMMOW:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you're familiar with that standard?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Board, I have copies of the standard, and I have made them available, and I would ask that they be marked as an exhibit.  This is the most recent standard, and I believe the copy of the standard that's attached to Hydro One's evidence is unfortunately the old version of the standard, but this is the most recent version of the standard.  I'd ask that it be marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I believe you have copies on the dais, and it will be Exhibit K1.3.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  CSA STANDARD C22.3.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Gummow, at paragraph 3 -- and this is the guts of it -- at paragraph 3 of your letter, which begins "we are confident that the actual safe separation distance for the subject situation can be calculated" -- do you see that there, sir?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you indicate at the bottom that preliminary calculations indicate that the safe separation distance would be less than three metres.  Do you see that?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  It's the last sentence.

MR. GUMMOW:  The last sentence.

MR. SMITH:  And let me just ask you, what is the calculation that you are referring to in that paragraph?

MR. GUMMOW:  It's a calculation using equations that were developed in a Canadian Electrical Association research that was done in B.C. by Power Tech Labs, where they did actual fault tests on pipe to establish what was a safe separation distance, or at least a distance where they would -- could be calculated that you could not sustain an arc past; that is, a radius of ionization.  And we use those calculations for this particular situation because it's less than the recommended safe separation distance.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And you indicate that your preliminary calculations indicate that the safe separation distance would be less than three metres.  How did you arrive at that?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, by using the information that Hydro has sent to us based on fault currents and on tower resistance as maximum values of tower resistance, and they gave us a fault period of about 7 kiloamps, and on that basis we were able to calculate on a tower footing that the safe separation distance would be less than three metres.

MR. SMITH:  What's the significance, sir, of that three metres?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, it means that the pipe outside of that safe separation distance would not receive a flash-over; that is, an arc strike that could damage the wall of the pipe by melting it.  So...

MR. SMITH:  Over on page 2 of your letter you refer to instances where the safe separation distance could not be obtained, mitigation measures can be designed, and then you go on to indicate a couple of them.

What are you referring to in that portion of your letter?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, number one is where the pipe is located within this ionization radius from a faulted tower, then you can get an arc strike.  And so the mitigation here is to put a thicker coating on the pipe and/or to install the pipe in a plastic casing so that you don't have an ionization path to the pipe in that location by the tower.

MR. SMITH:  And what if the pipe and the -- the pipe and the tower are more than the calculated safe distance apart?

MR. GUMMOW:  Then you're not going to have an arc strike that could melt the wall in the pipe.

MR. SMITH:  And the impact on the mitigation measures would be...

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, you don't need any mitigation measures if you're beyond the arc strike radius.

MR. SMITH:  For fear of being repetitive, are the sorts of calculations and assessments that you're discussing in this letter indicating being capable of doing, are those the sorts of determinations that you've done in the past?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Would these be amongst the studies or the hundreds of projects you indicated earlier?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes, we did over a thousand of these for Pacific Gas & Electric in the US.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn back to Schedule 4 of Union's reply evidence?  I want to give the Board an indication of what these things look like.  Do you have that, sir?

MR. GUMMOW:  I'm getting there.

MR. SMITH:  You should have it on the screen in front of you.

MR. GUMMOW:  I can go off the screen.

MR. SMITH:  This is indicated as being an AC interference study on the Union Gas Limited Leamington North pipeline, in relation to Hydro One -- the new 230 KV Hydro One line. Do you have that study in front of you?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  How does this sort of study -- I know you weren't the author of this, but how does this sort of study compare to what you're contemplating doing in your letter, schedule 5?

MR. GUMMOW:  This covers all the possible effects that AC could have on a pipeline, and it addresses them in terms of whether mitigation is required or not, and also on the type of mitigation that one could use.

MR. SMITH:  And as it relates to your schedule 5 letter, how would it compare to what is being contemplated in that letter?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, there is a risk calculation in this section, and that's part of the analysis one would do on one of these projects.  And the -- since this was done in 2009, some of these things have changed a little bit with more information.  But this basically covers all the areas where you could have a problem.

MR. SMITH:  Put differently, would you expect your schedule 5 calculation or report coming out of that to be similar to what we have in Schedule 4?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And approximately how long would it take you, and those working with you if appropriate, how long would it take you to generate such a study?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, recent estimates are four to six weeks, and one proviso there is that we need a little bit more information from Hydro One.

MR. SMITH:  And what is that information that you need?

MR. GUMMOW:  It has to do with a substation that's nearby and is part of the power system here, and we would like to know what the resistance of the grounding mat in that power station is, so that we can include that in our calculations to, I guess, be more accurate in our calculation.

MR. SMITH:  How have you dealt with that issue in your preliminary?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, at the moment, we have assumed that the shield wires are not connected into the substation ground.  Therefore, that ground is not available to pass fault current.  Therefore, our calculations are more conservative than they would be if that grounding mat in the station, the grounding grid, were connected into the shelled wires.

MR. SMITH:  Just so the record is clear, when you say more conservative, do you mean the – directionally, it's greater or lesser than you anticipate it being?

MR. GUMMOW:   No.  With that ground mat tied in, it would receive some of the 7000 amperes of fault current, and that would mean less will go down any one tower that faults, and that means the ionized radius around each tower would be less when that grounding system is connected into the shield wires, less than what we had calculated.

MR. SMITH:  And that has then what impact on the safe separation distance?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, it would make it smaller.

MR. SMITH:  Is there any other information that you require?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, we require specific locations for the towers, because to determine how much fault current goes down a tower, you need to know the resistivity of the soil in the vicinity of the tower.  And that's not just bulk resistivity, but layered resistivity.

So we need to know pretty accurately where the towers would be located.

MR. SMITH:  And as you say, from when you get that information from Hydro One, you anticipate it would take four to six weeks to have the study complete?

MR. GUMMOW:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn believe to page 9 of 10 of Hydro One's intervenor evidence, if you have it handy?

Do you have that handy?  In particular, I'm focusing on line 12 of the evidence -- that paragraph, yes.  It begins:  "Hydro One understands Union to be suggesting that the 10 metre separation requirement is not rigid."  Do you see that?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Take a moment to read that, if you could.

I guess my question for you, sir, is having read this paragraph, does it in any way change your opinion as to your ability to determine the safe separation in this case, or your opinion as to what that safe separation is likely to be?

MR. GUMMOW:  No, because we've been doing these calculations for quite a number of years.  The CEA report came out in 1994; that's twenty years ago.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, sir.

Mr. Grochmal, I ought to have asked you a couple of questions earlier; I apologize.  Let me ask you briefly.  In Union's evidence at page 6, I believe it is, you or Union indicates -- it should be paragraph 19, I believe. At the bottom of that paragraph, you indicate or Union indicates that it believes that the separation between the pipeline and the tower will be approximately 5 metres; do you see that?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Can you just explain for the Board the basis of that belief?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I can provide some clarity there.  I would like to use the photo as an aid here; I think that would be helpful.

MR. SMITH:  These are the photos at Exhibit K1.2?  Okay, we have them.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, let's use this photo.  This was also the photo used to answer the Hydro One interrogatory 4F, I believe.

So based on the information we understand from Hydro One, they're going to use narrow based towers with footings, footings that are approximately 3 and a half metres in diameter.  That's the information provided in their power line data form from last week.

Our understanding also is that these towers are going to be centered over the eastern limit, the centre line so to speak.  That's the dashed black line you can see in the photo.

So if you assume about a three and a half metre augered footing that they describe, that footing will protrude into the railway corridor that you see here about 1.7 metres; that’s half of 3.4.

And that's -- would be to the right of this easterly limit, so to the right of your easterly limit you're in the utility corridor.

Now, there's -- that red line on the left-hand side is the start of Union's easement, or proposed easement.  That's three metres, three metres between the dashed blackline and the red line on the left-hand side, so about three metres, take away 1.7, you're left with about 1.3 metres of physical separation from the edge of Hydro's footing location and the start of Union's easement.

On the other side of the easement there is a 30-inch water main, as you can see, noted by a blue line.  Blue line is intended to mark the centre line.  The water line sits just off to the west, or the right-hand side of that easement, as you can see.  It wanders a little bit, but you can assume sort of worst case or most conservatively that the edge of that water main would be kind of right up against the edge of that easement, the right-hand side of Union's easement, and Union wants to maintain about a metre clearance from that water main.

So with five metres of easement you're kind of working from right to left.  You leave a metre clearance for the water main, you have a 12-inch pipe, which is about .3 of a metre.  That's 1.3.  You have five metres.  Subtract 1.3, you have got approximately 3.7, and so sort of the basis of five metres is that you add that 3.7-metre separation within the trail to the 1.3 metres of clearance outside Union's easement.  You've got approximately five metres of separation.

MR. SMITH:  I wanted to ask you a further question in relation to Hydro One's evidence.  At the page we were just at, page 9, beginning at the last paragraph, line 22, there's a reference to Union suggesting copper wire adjacent to the pipeline.  Do you see that, Mr. Grochmal?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  And I'm just going to ask you about this paragraph in Hydro One's evidence and whether this is something you agree with as what Union was suggesting.


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, I'd like to clarify this as well.  This is -- what's stated here isn't what Union was suggesting.  Union in its response to the Hydro evidence was just stating some of the measures taken based on our past practice, and it's in a broader context than just arcing, which is the specific concern noted by Hydro One.

As Mr. Gummow noted, Union's concerned about various effects from AC interference, arcing being one of them, induced voltage being another one, and all impacted by separation.  So the mention of mitigation wires and grounding grids, I agree with Hydro One, is not the solution to the concern around arcing, but that -- and that wasn't the intent, and nor does, as mentioned here, does Union utilize shielding electrodes.  We didn't mean that either.  I just think there might have been a misunderstanding here.

Mitigation wires, grounding grids, are real measures Union has taken on past pipeline projects to address other effects of electrical interference, such as induced voltage.

MR. SMITH:  And not arcing.

MR. GROCHMAL:  I beg your pardon?

MR. SMITH:  And not arcing.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you very much, Mr. Grochmal and Mr. Gummow.

Before I tender the panel for cross-examination, as the Chair indicated in his opening remarks, the Board indicated in Procedural Order No. 2 that it was also interested in the issue of project economics and proposed cost recovery.  And I just -- the Board's indulgence -- had a couple of questions for Mr. Hockin which I hope will clarify the record.

Mr. Hockin, can you explain for us how Union went about calculating its discounted cash-flow model in this case?

MR. HOCKIN:  We've done it in broad terms from two perspectives.  From one perspective, we've done a DCF for each individual customer, so that's approximately 55 of those calculations, and that would include the site-specific capital cost for each customer and the incremental revenue for those customers and a proportionate share of the Leamington line cost.  And then we aggregated all that information together and we did the DCF for the project in total, which would be the sum of all those revenues and the sum of all those costs to do the project DCF.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And what were the result of those calculations?

MR. HOCKIN:  The project in total has a PI of 1.1, 1.11, I believe, over an assumed ten-year revenue horizon.

MR. SMITH:  And what's the basis of the ten-year estimate?
MR. HOCKIN:  The ten-year estimate is the expected revenue or minimum revenue, I guess is another way of looking of it, that we would assume for those customers.  Each individual customer has a ten-year revenue horizon in their calculation.  Those individual customers have minimum contract terms, ranging anywhere from two to ten years, so whatever is required in order to meet a PI of 1.0 for an individual customer represents their minimum contract term, and then the remaining term from that term until ten years is uncontracted, but still assumed to be in place for the remaining term of that ten years.

MR. SMITH:  I see.  And let's turn to the other side of the equation, if I could.  Recovery, Union's proposed method for cost recovery, and you discussed there contracts, contracts varying in length from two to ten years.  What is Union's proposed method of cost recovery in this instance?


MR. HOCKIN:  We attributed or allocated the capital cost of the line on the basis of a capacity per unit or dollars per unit of capacity, which was $230 per cubic metre per hour, and then we attributed that to each of those customers.

MR. SMITH:  Just briefly, how did you arrive at the $230?

MR. HOCKIN:  That's in our evidence under page 44 -- paragraphs 44 and 45, but it essentially is the total cost of the line divided by 51,900 cubic metres of capacity.  It comes out to approximately $230 per cubic metre.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry I interrupted you.

MR. HOCKIN:  What I can do maybe if we can turn to the graphical illustration that we provided in our evidence, I'll just walk you through that example as an example of what it means and how it's applied in the calculations.

So this is a particular customer.  It's a real customer.  It's their numbers that are represented, and I've done two cases, case A and case B.  Case A is what the customer is actually committed to.  Case B is an alternative scenario to demonstrate how an aid would impact the contract term as an illustration.

MR. SMITH:  Just for the benefit of the record, have I got it right that case A is the top seven lines and case B, referred to as case 2, is lines 8 to 16?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.  So line 1 is the incremental revenues.  It is the incremental cash flows, inflows in this case.  It is derived as the incremental revenues minus the costs, and the costs in this case is primarily just CCA tax shield, a little O&M cost associated with this.

In this particular customer in years -- if you look at years one and two you see the figures 14 and 16.  That particular customer has a step up.  They're at a low revenue stream for two years and then they step up to a higher revenue stream in years three through ten.  You'll notice that the figures even from years three through ten are not the exact same figures in each column.


That is because the figure that is represented there is the present value of that inflow, which is the same revenue number in each years three through ten minus the tax impacts adjusted for the time value of money so that we can do a vertical representation looking at the column -- any particular column and compare the revenue for the life, so to speak, against the capital for the life.

Line 2 is the cumulative effects of line 1, and line 3 is the capital expended for this customer.  The figure of 270 is derived from two figures.  It is a customer-specific cost of 8 -- or 8,000, because everything is in thousands here -- and a proportionate share of the transmission line of 262.  That is all spent in period 1, but for purposes of illustration, it carries across the line so that your eye can meet the capital -- the cumulative effects with the cumulative revenues.

So the present value is line 4, and you can travel your eye across, left to right, to find out at what point in time the present value is a positive figure.  That would indicate the PI is 1.0, or just slightly above 1 at the point in time that that occurs.  And in the original case, that shows in year 7, and that is represented in the graphical form in the chart below.

The second case is a --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, if I can ask you to pause there, what's the significance of the project having a PI of 1.0 in year 7?

MR. HOCKIN:  In this case, this customer would have a contract term of 7 years, or would require a contract term of 7 years in order to meet a PI for their share of the project.  We would include the revenue from this customer for the full 10 years.

So this customer is a PI of 1.0 in year 7, and has a PI of about 1.44 individually by the time -- if you were to include this revenue for the full 10 years.

MR. SMITH:  But those other years, are they contracted or not?

MR. HOCKIN:  They are not contracted, but included in the total project summation when we include the 10 years.

MR. SMITH:  Continue.

MR. HOCKIN:  Case 2 is an artificial example.  It says what happens if the customer said if I had 100,000 dollars aid, what would be my contract parameters.  And the calculations that I've just described would be exactly the same all the way through, except we have a net capital figure of 170 that we need to match against the revenue.

You'll notice the revenue streams above are the same.  In this case, you would have a crossover point at the fifth year, slightly above that.  So the aid of 100,000  would get you to year 5.  You would do a second minor revision to figure out exactly what would be required to get to exactly 1.0.

So in this latter case, the customer would be contracting for 5 years.  The revenue for the project would assume 10 years, and the remaining 5 years of the project would be uncontracted, but included in the forecasted revenue stream.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Let me ask Mr. Boyer.  This is, I believe, in Union's updated answers to interrogatories.  But where is Union now at in terms of its -- the customers and number it’s entered into contracts with?

MR. BOYER:  In our updated evidence, we indicated that all 55 customers have contracted for service for the pipeline expansion.

MR. SMITH:  How many of those have an aid to construct?

MR. BOYER:  Three customers require an aid to construct, as their revenue over 10 years does not cover the complete cost or both the pipeline and distribution costs.

MR. SMITH:  Let me ask you, Mr. Hockin, just to expand on that.  What does that mean for your model here?

MR. HOCKIN:  If we were to plot any one of those individual customers, the blue line would meet the red line at year 10 -- or in fact, it would be less than -- it would be beyond year 10.  It might be year 11 or 12, more specifically.  Therefore, in order to meet the line at year 10, there would be an aid required.

MR. SMITH:  And is there an aid to construct paid by any customer who has a PI within the 10 years that is equal to 1.0?

MR. BOYER:  There is not.

MR. SMITH:  So they have all entered into contracts that provide for a volume sufficient over somewhere between 2 to 10 years that would equal a PI of 1.0 or higher?

MR. BOYER:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Hockin, is there anything else that wanted to add in relation to this?

MR. HOCKIN:  I don't think so.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Board, thank you very much for your indulgence.  Those are my questions in examination-in-chief.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Engelberg, it’s your turn for cross-examination.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  When I came into the hearing room this morning, counsel for Board Staff asked me if I would kindly accommodate the flow of this morning by agreeing to be the first cross-examiner rather than have Board Staff go.  Of course, I agreed in order to make the hearing go more smoothly.

But I would like to ask at this time, because of a change in the order, just for a short ten-minute recess so that I can discuss the matter with my clients.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  That's fine.  We'll resume at 10:35, then.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I do – sorry, it's Michael Millar, Mr. Chair.

I guess we're getting kind of close to where we might have had a break anyways.  I can go now.  I did learn a lot through the presentation we had that dealt with some of our questions.

So I leave it in your hands.  If you’d prefer not to break now -- I can go now, if that helps.  It’s up to you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Is that okay?  Is there anybody – if the Staff goes first?

MR. ENGELBERG:  That's acceptable.

DR. ELSAYED:  That then would allow us to take a break anyway at the scheduled time.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I won't finish before the morning break, so Mr. Engelberg will have plenty of time to discuss matters with his client.

DR. ELSAYED:  Very well.  If you would like to proceed.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I’d better pull up my notes here then.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar, and I am counsel for Board Staff.  I think I've met at least some of you in the past.  I'm going to start with some of the recovery issues, the recovery of cost issues that Mr. Hockin was just discussing.

So let's take a step back and start with your calculation of the PI for this project as a whole.  And just to remind ourselves of some of the figures, the total cost for this project is about 14 million dollars, is that correct?

MR. HOCKIN:  No, sorry, let me clarify.  The cost of the Pipeline, which I'm going to refer to as the Leamington line throughout today's discussion, is 12.3 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. HOCKIN:  The site-specific customer cost is 1.7 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I added that to 14 million dollars.  But the distinction you're drawing is it’s 12.3 for the pipeline, and then there's some associated customer-specific costs of 1.7 million?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Just in ten seconds or less, what type of costs are these customer-specific costs?

MR. HOCKIN:  The costs would be a modification to the customer's station.  But there are also situations where the customers are new load, so new acres, if you will, which could be on somebody's existing site or could be a new site, so there may be some pipeline or more station work in order to attach a brand new customer in some cases.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And of the 50 or so customers, you wouldn't just divide 1.7 million by 50.  There would be different costs depending on the customer, I assume?

MR. HOCKIN:  Each of the -- the engineering group provided us costs for each individual customer, and each one was looked at separately.

MR. MILLAR:  And as you said earlier, the PI for the project as a whole you calculated to be 1.11?

MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you calculated this in conformance with EBO 188, or you used that as guidance?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now I understand there was a lot of demand for this project; is that fair?

MR. BOYER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  When you initially did your -- I always think of it as an open season, but I think it's called an expression of interest, but the idea is the same, I think.

I understand that there was more than twice as much demand for firm services than this pipeline can provide; is that about right?

MR. BOYER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that in calculating the revenues for this project, you used a 10-year horizon for your discounted cash flow analysis.  That's what Mr. Hockin was describing to us earlier?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So what that means is you have a positive PI after 10 years, if the pipeline dissolved at 10 years, you would still have made your money back in 10 years?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes, so --


MR. MILLAR:  In other words, if it was never used again after 10 years, it would still have a positive net present value?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.  I'm going to ask that we turn up one of the schedules; it would be helpful.  Schedule 8 of our evidence is the actual DCF -- excuse me Schedule 8.  And if we can rotate that?

So looking at this on the screen when it gets there, you can see the PI by year underneath in the bottom line there.  So you can see somewhere between year 8 and year 9 is the crossover point.  It goes from .93 to 1.0.  So roughly eight-and-a-half years it's starting to hit its PI of 1.0, and it's positive beyond that point.

MR. MILLAR:  The expected lifetime, life -- in-service -- life expectancy of the pipeline would be well greater than ten years.  Is that fair?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And EBO 188, as I read it, allows you to use a revenue forecast of up to 20 years; is that right?

MR. HOCKIN:  For commercial customers, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So why did you pick ten years?

MR. HOCKIN:  Ten years is the typical contract term that we would apply to contract customers.  The reference in EBO 188 in regards to commercial customers is typically 20 years for non-contract customers.

MR. MILLAR:  You say "contract customers".  Most of the people -- most of the 50 customers do not have a contract term of ten years; is that correct?  It's less than ten years.

MR. HOCKIN:  Contract class.  Perhaps that's a better word.  So they're in our contract class.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. HOCKIN:  As opposed to the general service class.

MR. MILLAR:  And explain to me why they get ten years?

MR. HOCKIN:  That is a more conservative approach, and that's the approach that has been used for the last 20, 25 years, is to shorten up the term of -- the larger the customer is the more risk there is in an individual customer.  So in order to mitigate that risk the DCF term is shortened to about ten years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it relates to the risk of these customers.

MR. HOCKIN:  The risk of consumption, correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, this line is over -- or the interest indicated that there is an awful lot more demand for this line than there is supply.  Do you think ten years is really a realistic forecast of the revenues from this project?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't think it will be more than ten years?  You don't expect to get more than ten years of revenue?

MR. HOCKIN:  Oh, I hope we do.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, do you expect to?

MR. HOCKIN:  For purposes of the DCF, we have assumed ten.  For purposes of future use of the line I would expect that beyond the ten years customers would still consume gas and therefore still use the facilities.

MR. MILLAR:  And even if a customer or two, or ten, for that matter, went out of business or something like that -- and we'll discuss your contractual protections later -- but there appear to be other people willing to take up that space; is that fair?

MR. BOYER:  That is fair.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And just to make sure I had the math right, to the extent you did use a longer revenue horizon, presumably that makes the PI increase, so it would be higher than 1.11 if you used a 20-year revenue forecast.

MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I ask you to turn up Board Staff interrogatory 1E?  And you'll see the answer there on page 2.  That's right.  Okay.  We asked you a question about interruptible capacity on the line, and you'll see there that there is 17,500 cubic metres per hour of additional interruptible capacity in addition to the firm service that you've contracted for; is that correct?

MR. HOCKIN:  I see that.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you managed to sell -- let's take a scenario where you sold all of that interruptible capacity.  I think that would generate close to a million dollars a year in revenue; is that fair?  About $970,000?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why didn't you use -- to be clear, you didn't use this interruptible revenue as part of your discounted cash-flow analysis?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Why not?

MR. HOCKIN:  The pipe is being constructed for firm customers.  Those firm customers are going to use that capacity.  You mentioned that the market desire is excess of that capacity available to them, and those customers are looking for firm service.  Those customers are likely to take the first bit of firm service that comes available in a subsequent capacity expansion, and therefore their revenue stream would not occur underneath this pipeline DCF.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, who --


MR. HOCKIN:  It could potentially occur in the first year, but as parties are aware, we have a subsequent capacity plan right now to increase the capacity of the Panhandle line, and those -- that would allow more firm capacity, and those customers would switch from interruptible to firm at that point.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, on this line or on the other line?

MR. HOCKIN:  I can't speak to the engineering.  All I can tell you is that the notion of longer-term IT revenue on this line doesn't really exist in my mind, because those customers will be contracting for firm capacity.  That's the capacity that they want, and so they will switch off of the IT capacity.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And if they switch to firm contracts, that will result in additional revenue as well; is that correct?

MR. HOCKIN:  It will result in additional revenue to the enterprise.  That revenue presumably is attributed to another project, though not this project.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, what is the enterprise?

MR. HOCKIN:  Sorry, to the company.  In some manner if we -- if there was more activity for this built-up demand and there was more revenue, that revenue would be attributable to a subsequent project, not to this project.

MR. MILLAR:  So are you expecting no interruptible -- no revenue from interruptible capacity?

MR. HOCKIN:  For purposes of the DCF we did not include any.  I can give you a sensitivity on the impact of that.

MR. MILLAR:  I think I will ask for that in a moment.  Just let me finish this series of questions, and I was going to ask for some sensitivity analysis on that.  Have you actually already done it?

MR. HOCKIN:  I have.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, let me get to my questions, and we'll see if it's the right one, or if it will satisfy us.

Okay.  But again, just to discuss the math, to the extent you did -- if you were to include interruptible revenues in whatever amount, that would push the PI higher; is that fair?

MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I don't -- you're not expecting -- realistically, you're not expecting zero revenues from interruptible; is that fair?

MR. BOYER:  It would be a fair statement.  The pipeline will create that interruptible capacity, but not until such time as the pipeline is built, so the expectation of revenue would only occur if a customer were to take some of that capacity.

MR. MILLAR:  But you're -- as we discussed earlier, there is something like two times as much demand for this line as you have capacity.

MR. BOYER:  And that demand is for firm demand, not interruptible.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But --


MR. BOYER:  So I can't suggest if a customer may or may not want to take interruptible as a substitute.  Customers have asked for firm.

MR. MILLAR:  So if they're looking for firm service do you think it realistic that they wouldn't take interruptible if that was available in the meantime?

MR. BOYER:  The request from customers have been for firm.  Discussions have not taken place with customers to say, would you take one if the other is not available.  Nor have we been approached.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I have your answer.  Thank you.

MR. HOCKIN:  Mr. Millar --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. HOCKIN:  -- it bears understanding that in order for this theoretical IT revenue to be used, someone is going to have to build some facilities; that is, a greenhouse grower would have to construct some new acres.  Until that happens there is a desire out there, but there is no demand.
MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, why -- I didn't follow.  I thought you had already received expressions of interest that showed twice as much demand as there was supply.

MR. HOCKIN:  Well, it follows that in order for that demand to be realized the customer needs to create the acreage that is going to consume that gas.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I'll -- OGVG would know the detail of its customers better than I would, so they may have some follow-up on that.  But there are other alternatives to heating a greenhouse other than natural gas; is that correct?

MR. BOYER:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So the acreage may already be there, and they may be forced to use some other source of -- a more expensive form of heat while waiting for natural gas.  Is that a possibility as well?

MR. BOYER:  That is a possibility.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think I have your answers on that, so thank you.

And Mr. Hockin, I'll ask for your sensitivity analysis in just one moment, but I guess the point that staff has been trying to make here, or I guess the question I have for you is, in using a ten-year revenue term and excluding these potential interruptible revenues, is it fair to say that you've taken a very conservative estimate of the actual revenues that'll be generated from this project?

MR. HOCKIN:  I wouldn't say very conservative.  I would say it's conservative.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Hockin, what sensitivity analysis did you conduct?

MR. HOCKIN:  So this is what I would consider – it depends on your perspective -- the worst case or the most optimistic case.

So I looked at the revenue stream of the 17,000.  If the growers created their acreage and demands on day one, if all that was built in advance and all that gas started flowing day one, the most we could expect would be about one year's worth of revenue underneath that IT service.  Because, as I mentioned before, they're looking for firm service and it's likely that they will switch to firm service when that becomes available.

We attributed the cost of the Leamington line on the basis of the 51,000 cubic metres of capacity, and that is a cost of $230 per unit.  If I were to reduce that $230 by the equivalent of a million dollars IT revenue, which is the worst case, the cost would be in the order of $215.

So we looked at some customer individual contracts and said if we were to look at some of these individual customer contracts, would their contract term change if we  attributed $215 of cost for the line instead of the $230.  And for the majority of them, it doesn't change.

MR. MILLAR:  I had some other scenarios I was going to ask for.  So let me put these to you, and you can tell me if these are something that you can do for us.  I have three of them.  Let me read them out, and you can tell me what you think.

The first would be to do -- we would like to have the PI calculated for a 10-year revenue term, which you've already done, but include -- add onto that $970,000 a year for incremental revenue for the interruptible.  The second scenario would be a 20-year revenue term that does not include revenues from interruptibles.  And the third scenario would be 20-year revenue term that does include those revenues from interruptible capacity.

Now, I've heard your answers that you think those are probably not good scenarios, and I've heard your answers on those and certainly that can be subject to argument.  But are those scenarios you would be able to run for us without too much difficulty?

MR. HOCKIN:  With the proviso that in my opinion, anything that includes the interruptible revenue, particularly if you're going to include 10 to 20 years of interruptible revenue, it is not a realistic scenario.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm happy to have any caveats, or conditions, or explanation you wish to put.  I have heard your answers, and I'm not unmoved by them by any stretch.  But we wanted to get an indication of what the PI would look like under different scenarios.

Twenty years with full interruptibles may well be not the most realistic one, but that was kind of the best scenario we could see to use as a reference point, if nothing else.  Are you able to run those numbers?

MR. HOCKIN:  Mechanically, I can run the numbers.  But let me understand if I have more work to do as a result of that.

The PIs in those circumstances will be in excess of 1.14 or 1.11 that we have in the project.  That however does not change any of the individual contracts that underpin the MAV revenue streams that we are assuming.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I'm going to get to some questions on that in a moment.

MR. HOCKIN:  We can take that as an undertaking.  It will take some time to -- I don't know if we will be able to get it filed today or not, but we’ll see.

MR. MILLAR:  I appreciate that, thank you.  That's undertaking J1.1, those three scenarios.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  UNION TO PROVIDE THE THREE SCENARIOS

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, let me move on.  This project as a whole, as you’ve already discussed, has a PI of about 1.11 based on the DCF that you did.  That’s correct?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Does Union agree that normally aid to construct payments are only required from customers where the cost of a pipeline -- where the PI for a pipeline expansion as a whole are less than 1.1?  Is that the normal circumstance?

MR. HOCKIN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it typical for Union to require individual customers to pay contributions in aid of capital even when the PI for the project is higher -- is 1.1 or higher?

MR. HOCKIN:  The methodology that we've used today is the same methodology we've used, or will be, or have been using for years and years that I'm aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  So this is business as usual for Union?

MR. HOCKIN:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we look at the EBO 188, it certainly speaks of capital contributions in cases where the PI for the project is lower than 1.1.  Does it address the situation of individual customers paying capital contributions even when the PI for the whole project is over 1.1?  In other words, is this a Union initiative or something you've taken directly from EBO 188?

MR. HOCKIN:  It's consistent with the principles that we've done for 25 years, sir.  There is nothing we've done in this project which is different than we've done in other Leamington projects.

There is nothing that we've done in this project that is different than what we've done for other contract projects where we've had services where more than one customer is attributed to the project.

MR. MILLAR:  My question to you, though, was:  Does EBO 188 directly address this?

MR. HOCKIN:  I don't know that it does or does not without re-reading it.  I would have to take a look.  I don't believe 188 was so specific as to say something along the lines if there is more than one customer, then one customer can subsidize the other.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You discussed the $1.7 million that were individual customer-specific costs, and maybe your answer is the same here.  So these are costs you're directly allocating to individual customers, is that right?

MR. HOCKIN:  1.7 is costs directly incurred for those individuals customers, not allocated to them.

MR. MILLAR:  If I heard you correctly in your previous answer, has it always been your practice to directly charge these costs to customers even if the PI for a project is over 1.1?  Is that standard practice as well?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.  So the analogy is if there was no need to create the Leamington project because there was sufficient capacity, then the costs that we would attribute to a customer DCF would be their site specific cost, which is the cost of connecting their load.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand.  So you've calculated a PI for each individual customer, and then I understand what you propose to do is to require either a minimum term in volume that will get to you a PI of 1.1, or I believe, at least theoretically, there was an option that they could pay the entire capital cost up-front as a capital contribution.  Is that right?

MR. HOCKIN:  With a correction.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, 1.1.

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.  So individual customers -- so if we were to look back at our exhibit, that customer needs to meet the lesser – a PI with the lesser of a term of 10 years or a PI which is 1.0 before 10 years.

MR. MILLAR:  And they can do that a couple ways.  One, they could enter into a contract with a term, a minimum annual volume that would get to 1.1.  That's the kind of scenario you discussed earlier.

MR. HOCKIN:  Caught yourself up to 1.0.

MR. MILLAR:  1.0, I'm sorry.  But alternatively, they could choose to pay a contribution in aid of capital instead, if that would get them to the 1.0.

MR. HOCKIN:  Any combination of --

MR. MILLAR:  Or a combination of the two?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So I've asked you for scenario one, where you have them sign a contract of a term and volumes get to a PI of 1.  You stated that that is your ordinary practice?

MR. BOYER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And under scenario -- what I'll call scenario 2, where they're paying a capital contribution either to give you the whole shot, or in combination with a contract as well, what would happen in that scenario is that if a customer -- let's say a customer chose to pay all of their capital in form of an aid to construct, you'd be an a PI of 1.0 with those customers before gas even started to flow, is that right?

MR. HOCKIN:  Mathematically, if they paid all their costs, there is no PI.  You would have -- the PI is the denominator which is the capital -- you'd have revenue without cost.  But I take your point.

MR. MILLAR:  Right, so to the extent that they did that, and then they started paying ordinary distribution rates, you would in theory be double recovering from those customers; is that fair?

MR. HOCKIN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Why not?

MR. HOCKIN:  In all cases, all we're recovering from the customer is the distribution rates.

MR. MILLAR:  But the distribution rates include a component, especially for a new line, it would mostly be capital, wouldn't it?

MR. HOCKIN:  The distribution rates reflect historical rates.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Okay.  But that includes capital.

MR. HOCKIN:  It reflects historical rates, which is the rate base and whatever other operating costs are attributed to those rates --


MR. MILLAR:  So it includes capital.

MR. HOCKIN:  Historical capital, yes, not incremental capital.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So with this combination of either -- I think mostly it's done by contracts, but a few have paid a capital contribution as well -- is it fair to say that you are guaranteeing that you will recover the entire allocated portion of the cost from each customer?

MR. HOCKIN:  We are entering into contracts to recover.

MR. MILLAR:  These are enforceable legal instruments?

MR. HOCKIN:  As long as their credit is good and the capital cost of the project comes in relatively close to the estimate, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So what would -- what would your risk be if these contracts are entered into?

MR. HOCKIN:  What is our risk of --


MR. MILLAR:  Under what circumstance do you not recover at least the 1.0 from each customer?

MR. HOCKIN:  At a point in time if the credit of the customer or is unable to pay.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if they go bankrupt or something.

MR. HOCKIN:  Certainly.

MR. MILLAR:  Or something like that.  But otherwise you are -- at least by the terms of the contract you're guaranteed to recover at least up to the 1.0?

MR. HOCKIN:  That's our intent, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You discussed that this -- the practice of requiring contracts and the customer-specific PI of 1.0 has been standard practice for quite a while.  Do you recall that?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you mentioned in particular the previous Leamington case.  My friend Mr. Gluck and I are familiar with that case, but in truth, we didn't know that that had been a standard Union practice in the past.  And I don't know if you'll be able to answer this off the top of your head, but are you aware of any cases where the Board -- other than the previous Leamington decision, are you aware of any cases where the Board has specifically considered this practice and opined on it?

MR. HOCKIN:  Can you rephrase for me what practices that you're referring to?

MR. MILLAR:  To an individual profitability index for individual customers on a line and ensuring that every individual customer pays at least 1.0?

MR. HOCKIN:  I can't comment.  I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, I'd be prepared to take -- if the company wants to take a look and if there is something that we've missed, we don't want to miss it.  I would like to provide an opportunity for an undertaking if anyone wants to take a look, but I obviously won't force that on you.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I mean, I can't think of an instance, but, I mean, I can go back and look at the Leamington record from phase 1.  This was the very issue, as you'll know, that was explored two years ago, and the Board ultimately approved it and the very practice that you're exploring in this proceeding.

So I think what you're asking me is are there cases in advance of the case that was decided two years ago that are consistent with that.  I'm happy to look, by looking at interrogatories or dialogue that may have been referenced in the last case, but as you know, Mr. Millar, this issue was squarely addressed in the last proceeding in which the Board approved the very sort of approach to capital cost recovery that Union is proposing here.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I won't -- I'm going to go to Leamington, so I don't need anything from that.

Okay.  So we were discussing the Leamington decision.  I think I have -- I think we have that available, that we'd provided a heads-up to Union that this might come up, and obviously you're familiar with the case.

Do we have that Leamington decision available to be pulled up?  It's not that one.  I think it's that.  And could you go to page 13, please.  Okay.  Yeah, actually, page -- that's good, thank you.

Gentlemen, you're familiar with this decision.  This is the decision in EB-2013-0365.  I think this is what we've been discussing?

MR. HOCKIN:  I'm familiar with it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Were you involved in this case?

MR. HOCKIN:  I was.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And this is -- essentially you were proposing in that case more or less exactly what you're proposing here with respect to contractual arrangements from individual customers and that sort of thing?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If we look at the top of page 14, which I see right now -- our concern with staff is there may have been confusion on the record here, so I wanted to ask you about that.  It says at the top:

"Although the Board's decision did not require this contribution to be in the form of an upfront aid-to-construct payment from the greenhouse growers, it clearly contemplated that Union would need to recover the $2 million shortfall in revenues."

Mr. Hockin, do you know if there was in fact a $2 million shortfall in revenues on the record before the Board in that proceeding?

MR. HOCKIN:  I'm struggling here, because it was originally a written application, and there was an evidence update.  And I was not a participant in the original written version to start off with.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. HOCKIN:  The reference to $2 million was in -- I believe in regards to a change in estimates of a number of items, but without further information I couldn't go further with that.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, Board Staff's understanding is -- I think there were a number of numbers floating around in that application, and that this statement by the Board may be an error, and in fact there was not a $2 million shortfall in revenues.

Are you able to either confirm or...

MR. HOCKIN:  Not sitting here, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that something that you could find out for us?

MR. SMITH:  We can do this.  Just, as you'll know, Mr. Millar, there were two proceedings.  There was first a leave-to-construct application in which it was contemplated that there would be a shortfall.  It was later determined through the argument phase that there would not be a shortfall.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's what I'm discussing here.

MR. SMITH:  There was then a subsequent proceeding in which the issue arose, but of course by that point there was no shortfall, but we can go back and look at the record and --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  -- just make sure that you have that information.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  So that would be J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  UNION TO CONFIRM WHETHER OR NOT THERE WAS A $2-MILLION SHORTFALL IN REVENUES.

MR. MILLAR:  Regardless of whether there was a shortfall or not, it appears the Board was acting on the assumption there was a revenue shortfall; is that fair, Mr. Hockin?

MR. HOCKIN:  I cannot comment, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I guess the decision says what it says, and we can make whatever argument.

Then if you look to the next paragraph it says:

"Accordingly, it was appropriate for Union to require a contractual commitment or upfront payment from each greenhouse grower to ensure that the costs of the pipeline were borne by the customers that caused them to be incurred.  In the absence of such a commitment, Union would be faced with the risk of collecting less revenue than was required to fund the project.  The deficiency in revenues would then have to be recovered from other ratepayers."

Do you see that?

MR. HOCKIN:  I see that.

MR. MILLAR:  There is no revenue shortfall predicted in the current case; is that fair?  Your PI is over 1.1 for the project as a whole?

MR. HOCKIN:  The PI is 1.1 only if, and only if those customers consume revenue -- consume gas for ten years, so until such time as they do that, there is zero revenue.  The contract creates the binding requirement for them to actually consume revenue individually for terms between two and ten, but there is no revenue until such time as they actually consume gas, and there is no commitment for them.

So if -- it goes back to what you've asked me to do for this other DCF.  I can do a 20-year DCF and indicate for you what the revenue would be for 20 years if no one had any commitment of any contract.  That's really what you're asking me to do.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  But I think the whole point -- and this is a discussion we can have, I think.  I mean, the point of EBO 188 is not necessarily to say, 'These are the revenues you have firm contracts for.'  The idea is to get a realistic picture of what the revenues from a project are going to be.  Would you agree with that?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So there’s no - nothing in EBO 188 says you have to have everything locked down with a contract?

MR. HOCKIN:  That’s correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I think this is a -- I don't know if it's a difference between us or not.  But I think we're all talking about the same thing, so I’m not looking to argue here.  I just want to understand exactly how Union approached it.

Sorry, I'm conscious of my time.  Mr. Chair, when would you like to take a break?

DR. ELSAYED:  Do you think if we --


MR. MILLAR:  Now is fine, if that works for you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Why don't we take a break now for fifteen minutes, and we will resume at 11:15.
--- Recess taken at 11:01 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:20 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Millar, you may now resume your cross-examination.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Good morning again, panel.  Why don't we pick up more or less where we left off.  Again, some questions about the contracts that you're requiring the greenhouse growers to sign as a condition of getting the firm service.  They include a term in a minimum annual volume, as we've discussed; is that correct?

MR. BOYER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And imagine the minimum annual volume is whatever.  Let's say it's 100 units just for the purpose of discussion.  Explain to me what happens if this customer actually only uses 80 units.  What happens under those circumstances?

MR. BOYER:  In the circumstance where the 100 units is in the contract as the MAV and the customer would only consume 80, as you said, there would be a deficiency or a shortfall under the contract in that year, and the customer would be billed accordingly for that deficiency in volume.

MR. MILLAR:  So they would pay as if they had used 100 units.

MR. BOYER:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  They have to make up the difference if they don't actually use the minimum annual volume.

MR. BOYER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And whatever benefits there may be to these types of contracts for Union and for the economics of the project, would you agree with me that from the customer's point of view they would probably prefer not to have a minimum annual volume if they didn't have to?  Is that a fair assessment?

MR. BOYER:  That would be a fair assessment, yet the approved rates do have a minimum annual -- or a minimum volume commitment that the customer in the firm rate class consumes 146 times their contracted demand, or CD, which creates an annual volume commitment in the firm rate class.

So whether they're contracted on an annual basis or for a multi-year term, that is still a requirement for the rate class.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  But again, just speaking solely from a customer's perspective, these types of minimum annual volume requirements, that would reduce their flexibility.  They wouldn't be able to -- or to the extent that they reduced their usage, that actually doesn't help them, because they would have to pay that amount anyways.

MR. BOYER:  In your example, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And in instances where a customer -- let's say this customer with the 100 units of minimum annual volume actually consumed 120.  What happens to the revenues from the 20, from the excess?

MR. BOYER:  The excess volume against the 100, if I think you're asking what you're asking, that's not credited or banked, for lack of a better term, against the minimum annual volume requirement.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  My question wasn't very clear.  I guess -- to the extent they use more than their minimum annual volume, Union would just treat that -- that's just revenue for Union; is that fair?

MR. BOYER:  That's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  And in that case you would -- the PI would be higher than 1.0 to the extent that they used more than their minimum annual volume?

MR. BOYER:  Over the course of the term if they --


MR. MILLAR:  Just generally.  I'm talking generally, directionally, that's how it would work.

MR. BOYER:  Directionally, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. HOCKIN:  Very minimally.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough.  But to the extent they use more than their minimum annual volume you're getting more revenue than you had anticipated in your PI calculation.

MR. HOCKIN:  Well, perhaps now is the time to put the facts clear.  The contract demand -- that is, the daily capacity that the customer is contracting for -- comprises up to 85 percent of their annual bill.  The MAV portion is attributable to the commodity charge.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. HOCKIN:  So if you had a 10 percent change in annual volume because it was warm or a change in production, the total bill change for the customer is something like 1 to 2 to 3 percent.  It's very, very small, because the customer is paying for the reservation of being able to take a quantity on any day throughout the year.  The MAV is only a very minor portion of the actual annual volume, actual annual dollars associated with the contract.

MR. MILLAR:  You're saying the MAV is only, did you say 1 to 3 percent or something like that?

MR. HOCKIN:  No, what I said was the CD or the demand charge is between 75 and 85-plus percent of the annual bill.
MR. MILLAR:  I understand.

MR. HOCKIN:  The commodity charge is the remaining 15 to 25 percent.  It varies dependent upon class and rates, et cetera.



MR. MILLAR:  And then you're saying to the extent you make changes to that 25 percent you're only -- you're only -- your starting point is 25 percent of your bill or less.

MR. HOCKIN:  15 percent or --


MR. MILLAR:  15 to whatever it is --


MR. HOCKIN:  -- 15 to 25 percent, a variability on the -- is on that basis.  So put another way, if the customer consumed nothing because they had a contract and they had some sort of failure problem, where they didn't plant their acres, didn't do whatever, they would still be on the hook for 75 to 85 percent of the bill, because they would have zero commodity units travelling through there.  That's the demand charge piece.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, if I can just interrupt for a second.  I just want to make sure I understood correctly, and it would be hard to bring it back.

You mentioned that 15 percent of the bill is commodity.  Did you mean 15 percent of the bill is throughput-related?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Versus -- because the commodity bill would be the cost of the actual gas, which I assume would be much more than 15 percent of the total bill.

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes, in our terminology typically the demand charge is the fixed charge and the variable charge is often referred to as the commodity charge, but commodity without the molecules.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So at the risk of repeating myself, the contractual requirements that you have, essentially they seem to essentially eliminate the risk of not collecting the amount associated with the minimum annual volume, or in other words eliminate the risk of not collecting to get you to a PI of 1.0, but they do maintain the ability to earn more than 1.0.  Is that a fair way of putting it?

MR. HOCKIN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Why is that?

MR. HOCKIN:  Union's revenue stream is always exactly the same.  The contract commitment simply ensures that the customers are going to use a quantity cumulative over some time period, the contract term, to pay for their share of the facilities.

Our bill is exactly the same.  If they have a seven-year contract and burn for ten years, our bill to them every single year is exactly the same as if we had a ten-year contract and they burned for ten years.  We don't have any windfall, additional revenue of any nature, by the fact of the term of the contract being anything other than ten years by our forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  The contract protects you against downside risk, right, to the extent that they use less than the minimum annual volume.  They have to pay for that anyways?

MR. HOCKIN:  To the extent that -- they pay on a monthly basis for their CD, that firm charge I referred to.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. HOCKIN:  That occurs every month.

MR. MILLAR:  But they also have to pay for the minimum annual volume.

MR. HOCKIN:  They have a potential of paying for the minimum annual volume at the end if they have not paid for the quantity.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, they pay for it one way or another.  If they don't actually use the minimum annual volume, they pay for it, and if they do use the minimum annual volume, they would just pay for it in the ordinary course.

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you're protecting yourself from downside risk.

MR. HOCKIN:  Well, we're protecting other customers.  At the end of the day all of these dollars, all these revenue forecasts, go into our rates.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, they will go into rates in 2019; is that right?

MR. HOCKIN:  They will go into rates in 2019; that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And just -- just -- I should have prefaced that by saying you're currently under IRM, so you don't rebase until 2019?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So until that time the costs of this project are for you to bear and the revenues are for you to keep?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I take you to the example you provided us with in your presentation this morning?  This was the -- you gave the two cases, the case A and the case B.  I can't recall if we marked this -- that's it on the screen right now.  I think it was filed at the end of last week.

Mr. Hockin, you recall walking us through that?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And just to refresh our memories, case A is a circumstance where a customer chose not to pay a capital contribution, and then case B is one where for whatever reason they did decide to pay a capital aid; is that correct?

MR. HOCKIN:  Case 1 is a real customer.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. HOCKIN:  Case 2 is a scenario that I tried to use to illustrate the relationship between aid and revenue.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. HOCKIN:  It doesn't exist.  There are no customers in this project that have chosen to pay an aid, except in the circumstance where 10 years of revenue is insufficient to cover their cost.

MR. MILLAR:  This would have been an option for customers though, had they – if someone -- that was an alternative that was presented to customers.  They could have chosen something like scenario B?

MR. HOCKIN:  Every customer was presented with what I would say the top line, the case A, and they would then have an iterative conversation with a sales rep, which may along the lines of can I contract for more and reduce my term, or can I pay some money up front and reduce my term.  Those are ongoing conversations.

MR. MILLAR:  Since this is largely theoretical for the purposes of this case, I'll go through this fairly quickly.  If you look at case A, for both case A and case B, the revenue Union gets from those customers is the same.  Is that right?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's $389,000?

MR. HOCKIN:  That's the present value in year -- after 10 years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I know that doesn't -- can we call that the revenue that Union collects over the 10 years?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes, it's the revenue net of the taxes and those other items I referred to.

MR. MILLAR:  So that's the closest number we have to the revenue that Union would collect.  So I think for the purposes of this example, that works.

So the revenue collected by Union is identical and the revenue – sorry, the cost paid by customer A is also 389; is that right?

MR. HOCKIN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Why is that?

MR. HOCKIN:  Well, the investment that – sorry, I misspoke myself.  The revenue Union gets, if you were to attribute that line to be revenue instead of revenue net of tax -–

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. HOCKIN:  -- comes from the customer, and therefore it must be paid by the customer.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So that customer paid 389, in our scenario, $389,000.

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  In case B, although Union's revenue is the same, $389,000, the customer actually paid $489,000; is that fair?

MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you don't keep that $100,000 as revenue, because that -- when the matter -- when the assets close to rate base, that will be used as an offset against the rate base, is that right?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But for the customer, they’ve still paid that $100,000; is that fair?  So for the cost to the customer, they're actually paying $100,000 more under scenario B?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes, that's why no customers accepted that proposition.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, the evidence that was filed last week clarified that.  That was going to be our question as to where did you find that customer.  But, okay.  So that's helpful, and since it's largely theoretical for this case, I think I'll move on.

Could we take you to some other scenarios you ran?  These you’ll find in   Staff interrogatory 2 I, 2 I 2.But what I want to take you to is actually a schedule you filed in response to that interrogatory.  It’s Schedule 8 -- schedule 1, I'm sorry.

I apologize for taking you through these.  I just want to make sure I understand how all the numbers flow, and this chart was very helpful in that regard.  We asked you to run a couple scenarios, and this is what you helpfully provided.  We want to see how a capital contribution would work, and when you get to a PI of 1, and things like that.

So for the purpose of this example, you've given us a customer, as you can see at the top, with a 550 cubic metres an hour of new firm capacity.  And the total capital cost associated with that customer is $236,500?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I want to work through how the numbers would work on this.

Again, to the extent that you had someone who chose, for whatever reason, to pay their entire capital cost as a capital contribution up front -- as you said, that certainly didn't happen in this case.  But if it did, then is it fair to say the PI would be an awful lot higher than 1.0 for that customer, assuming they stayed in business for a number of years?

MR. HOCKIN:  Again, subject to divide by zero, there's zero capital investment as the denominator.  But it would be a very high number if you spent a dollar.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And if they did that and they paid every dollar they paid in their distribution rates would increase the PI to some extent?

MR. HOCKIN:  Right.  In the circumstance, Union would have zero capital invested, an would be able to take on the customer without cost.

MR. MILLAR:  All right.  We discussed that's not a very realistic thing to happen.  I guess that's an option that they could take, but you and I can't really think of why someone would decide to do that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  No one has, or should.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's look at the example of M2, the M2 rate class you provide there.  In this – again, it's a case where the capital costs are $236,500, and you see below you have a line that says "aid required to get to PI of 1.0", and then you have it over the various years; is that right?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes, those were your scenarios, as I recall.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, certainly you were guided by what we asked you to do.

MR. HOCKIN:  You asked us to do the mathematical calculation at 1, 3 and 5 years, and the results are .4, 1.0, and 1.6 and 2.9.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And it seem that the break even point occurs somewhere around three years.  Would that be right?  You’ve got a PI of .4 at one year, and 1.6 at five years.  So something in the range of three years?

MR. HOCKIN:  I don’t know.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, it’s between one and five years?


MR. HOCKIN:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  And that would mean that under this scenario at least, under this theoretical, somewhere prior to five years you would have hit your break even point.

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if we continued on to ten years in this scenario, the PI for that customer would be 2.9 -- at least as we've asked to you run this math?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's look at -- M4 and M7 are actually interesting examples, because I think these are similar to what may have actually happened with three of your customers.

These are cases where, even with a capital contribution at the end of 10 years -- pardon me, without a capital contribution at all, at the end of 10 years you're still not at 1.0, is that right?  It's .9, if you see under M4?

MR. HOCKIN:  Underneath the M4, it appears that there’s roughly $34,000 of that has not been recovered.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So though customers would be required to make a capital contribution in that amount?

MR. HOCKIN:  In the exact parameters that are presented There, they would be asked to make an aid to payment, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If I heard you correctly, it seems that this is the type of scenario that happened with the three -- with three customers.  Three customers paid a capital contribution, and it was this type of scenario?

MR. HOCKIN:  I don't know the class, but the circumstances were that the cost associated with the customer were insufficiently recovered over a 10-year window.

Those costs could have been high because they were high local distribution costs, or, you know, customer-specific costs, or they could have been low customer-specific costs and high on the transmission piece.  Their circumstance is whatever their circumstance was.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And again, we've discussed this all Before, and I'm sorry if I'm repeating myself.  You've done this just to ensure you get the PI of 1.0 from that individual customer.  The 10 years doesn't get you to 1.0, so you require a top-up from capital contribution to ensure that you get all the revenue necessary for a PI of 1.0 from that customer in ten years?

MR. HOCKIN:  That was the intent, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That’s how it works.  I just want to make sure we understand how this all plays out.

I want to get back to the concept of risk here.  I think Union, with some justification, obviously wants to ensure it gets enough to cover the cost of this pipeline.  I don't think anyone would disagree that that's a good goal, because certainly once it closes to rate base, it would be ratepayers funding any shortfall.  Generally speaking, that's correct, right?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  In terms of these particular customers, is there anything particularly risky about this line or these customers?  Was there any analysis you did that suggested that these customers were less creditworthy – creditworthy is the wrong word -- were more risky than typical customers?

MR. HOCKIN:  The approach we took for this set of customers is no different than what we do -- have done for the last ten or 15 or 20 years, which is to attribute a reasonable term for the revenue horizon for these customers.

MR. MILLAR:  My question was, are these customers seen as more risky than a typical customer.

MR. HOCKIN:  And my response to you was, we did not do any detailed analysis by customer.  We've treated them exactly the same as we have for all other customers in all other transactions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

When you consider the riskiness of a pipeline or how you're going to recover the money that's been put into it, did you take into consideration the fact that it was -- you had twice as much demand for the line as capacity you were creating, or is that something that does not feed into your analysis?

MR. HOCKIN:  It does -- it's not appropriate to consider that in the circumstance, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Why is that not appropriate to consider?

MR. HOCKIN:  I guess the best scenario -- or the best way to illustrate that is, there is a pent-up demand, and I think your point is of the view that surely if these customers stepped out of the way for financial reasons someone else would step in.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. HOCKIN:  That logic only holds if those other customers aren't going to avail themselves of subsequent capacity that comes along later.  Those customers are asking for firm capacity.  There will be other projects that will satisfy that capacity.  And therefore, notionally those customers don't exist for this project to step in place because they will be attaching themselves to another project.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, to the extent that actual project comes along and it provides more supply than there is demand in the area.

MR. HOCKIN:  That's our business.  We respond to customer requests, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But did you actually consider any of that?  Is that an answer you're giving me now, or is that something that you actually consider when you're looking at the economics of the project?  It sounds to me like you treated this like any other case, so you didn't specifically consider that this line was at least in the short-term oversubscribed.  Is that a fair assessment?

MR. HOCKIN:  It's not logical from my perspective to assume that customers for the next ten years would sit on the sideline and step into this capacity if they had another choice over the next ten years.  Therefore, they're not available for that stepping-in process.

MR. MILLAR:  That may be a good answer, but that's not actually something -- you didn't do a -- you didn't look at that in this case.  That's not something you actually considered.  You just treated this like you treat all your other cases, all your other expansions.

MR. HOCKIN:  We're missing each other in --


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we are.

MR. HOCKIN:  I did not consider that because I don't find that to be a credible outcome that is reasonable.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand your answer.  Thank you.

I'm going to move on to another area.  Board Staff interrogatory 3A.  And I think you refiled this one.  If I can find it here.  Yes, so Board Staff interrogatory 3.  I just want to make sure the version we have here is the updated version.  Can you scroll down a little bit more, please?  I think -- this is the updated version of that interrogatory response; is that correct?

MR. BOYER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you already went over in your examination in-chief that the three customers you see referred to in B all had contracted terms of ten years, so can you confirm that?

MR. BOYER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you could flip to the next page, something we had actually meant to ask you but we didn't.  I'm wondering if you can help us.

Would it be possible to add a column to this chart showing the number of customers under each of the contract durations?  I assume, for example, year two has one customer, it looks like, but the others all have more than one?

MR. BOYER:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Could we get -- is there -- would there be a problem in adding a column to show how many customers in each of those categories?

MR. BOYER:  We can take that as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fine.  So that's J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  UNION TO ADD A COLUMN TO SHOW HOW MANY CUSTOMERS IN EACH OF THOSE CATEGORIES.

MR. MILLAR:  Just before I move on to some of the land matters, one more question about this.  Let's imagine -- I understand this has been a practice that the -- signing contracts is something you've required for quite a long time, and indeed, it came to the Board's attention in at least Leamington.

If the Board expresses concerns or reservations about this type of thing, whether it be specific to this case or more generally, are you able to tell me -- I genuinely want to understand what that would mean for Union, what would be the impact of that if -- imagine a decision came back from the Board to say, 'We don't think long-term contracts are necessary -- or minimum annual volume contracts are necessary for this pipeline.'  Are you able to discuss what that would mean to Union or what difficulties that would pose or what changes that would require?  I want to get a sense of what that would mean to Union.

MR. HOCKIN:  I don't know how best to respond to that.

MR. MILLAR:  It's an odd question, I know.

MR. HOCKIN:  At a principal level what you're suggesting is Union should make investments and customers should not be required to commit to those investments in any manner.  That's the nubs in the extreme case of what you're asking.

In this case the pipeline is being built for a group of customers that said, 'I need gas, and I want to use the gas.  Would you build me a pipeline?'  If we enter into an arrangement, all we've done by way of asking them to sign a contract is to commit to paper what they told us that they're going to use.  'Yes, I need that gas.  I'm going to continue to use it.'

If the Board or if -- through your proposition says, 'We shouldn't ask customers to contract beyond the contract term that is inherent in the rate schedule,' which is a one-year contract, then the risk is that other ratepayers will pay higher bills if those customers choose to go elsewhere for whatever reason.

There is only one downside -- there is only one way that it changes, and that is that customers would choose to go elsewhere, because in the circumstance, they're going to use gas if that's the best deal, and for the next period of time they're saying, 'That's the best deal.  That's what I want.'

If there is no contractual commitment three years from now they could say, 'I found a better deal, Union.  I'm not going to use your gas.  Union, you should do your rates based upon not having my capacity and charge everyone else higher rates.'  That's really the outcome of what your proposition is, and that would be the outcome on the company in some manner.  There would be an inability to mitigate risk for other customers on future use of facilities.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I asked that question, so I guess I have to -- I guess I have to take your answer on that.  I'm not sure -- to be clear, Board Staff is not going to be suggesting Union should not attempt to protect itself and its other customers where there are legitimate risks, but, you know, we can save that for argument.  So I asked the question, I got your answer, so --


MR. SMITH:  Well, I can tell you I will address this in argument, but it is the proposition reflected in the Leamington decision.  We will be saying that it is entirely appropriate where an identified group of customers caused the utility to expand and indicate that they want the utility to expand, it is entirely appropriate for those customers to bear the costs and for other customers not involved in that expansion not to be at risk for under-recovery.

And that is the company's position, and the consequence of not adopting that proposition will be, I will say in argument, an overall negative impact on the company's willingness to expand, because it doesn't make any economic sense.  That's going to be the position.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Just some quick follow-ups on the land issues related to -- they're not really follow-ups, because Mr. Engelberg hasn't gone yet, but some questions about the testimony we heard with respect to the separation from Hydro One's assets.

So I understand there is going to be an AC interference study that's going to be conducted, if I heard -- it should take something like four to six weeks, is that correct?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  One of the preliminary findings that I heard you address from Corrosion Service states that the actual safe separation could be less than 10 metres.  And indeed, a preliminary calculation suggests it could even be three metres or less.  Did I hear that correctly?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I want to make sure I understand the next steps.

Let's imagine the AC interference study comes back and finds a safe separation distance is in fact three metres or less than three metres.  I take it then that Union's position would be that neither utility has to change, has to reroute?  That would be the conclusion from that?

MR. SMITH:  That would be the conclusion – my apologies, that would be the company's position, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think I heard you say it would take four to six weeks.  But what is the starting point for that, for the four to six weeks?  Has it already commenced?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, we have partial information, and I mentioned what additional information we needed, which was just information from Ontario -- or sorry, Hydro One, on the substation grounding mat resistance.

And the second piece of essential information is accurate indications where the towers are, so that soil resistivity measurements can be made at those locations.  And so the second part requires some field work.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I guess the question I would like answered is when could we expect to have this completed.  And make the assumption that Hydro One provides you with the information you need, when would you expect this would be completed?

MR. GUMMOW:  What?  The soil resistivity survey?

MR. MILLAR:  The whole shebang, theca interference study.

MR. GUMMOW:  I think I stated four to six weeks.

MR. MILLAR:  From today?  From the date they get you the Information?

MR. GUMMOW:  Right, from the date we get the information about the substation grounding mat.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Does Union intend to file that study on the record in this proceeding?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will.

MR. MILLAR:  What is the latest date Union can get a decision from the Board and still have this pipe in the ground and flowing gas by the November 2016 in-service date?

MR. GROCHMAL:  In Union's best estimate, mid July would be the drop dead date to get a decision so Union can proceed and meet its November 1 in-service timeline to its customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Let's imagine the AC interference study comes back, and it does not show that the pipeline and the towers can be built on the proposed route.  Any thoughts as to what happens then?

For example, Hydro One suggests if they have to change the route, they're looking at $2 million in costs and a six-month delay.  Is that what we're looking at here, or has Union given any thought to what that would mean?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, Union has given some thought to the impact if this were to occur.  Let me pull up reference in the evidence here. I believe we provided an estimated cost impact.

I think in paragraph 8 under preferred route in Union’s reply evidence, Union indicates that if Hydro One – sorry, if Union had to relocate its pipeline in the location suggested by Hydro One, the cost impact would be approximately $1.5 million.  Does that answer your question, sir?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it does.  Do you know, Mr. Hockin, what would that do to your PI?  Would it go to less than 1.1?

MR. SMITH:  While Mr. Hockin is looking that up, I just wanted to make sure I understood, Mr. Millar, your earlier question.

You indicated safe separation, but I took your question to be in addition to safe separation, that safe separation and other mitigation measures were not available?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That the pipeline -- that one or both of the routes had to be moved for whatever reason.

MR. HOCKIN:  I'll explain the answer for the record.  Can we pull up Schedule 8 of our evidence, which is the DCF schedule?

You can see that the present value is 1.5 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Where is that?

MR. HOCKIN:  That is the NPV; it’s got the square box just above it.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I’m sorry.  Thank you.

MR. HOCKIN:  That is the figure that is derived in the line above it in year 10.  So that would indicate to me that if the project cost increased by 1.5 million, then subject to -- there is some tax impacts on CCA tax shield, et cetera, but kind of ignoring those, the project would have a PI of 1.0 at that point in time.

MR. MILLAR:  And if that happened then, that might lead to you requiring some additional changes to those contracts, either a longer term or higher minimum annual volume?

MR. HOCKIN:  No, in this circumstance, I would say not.  Those customers -- we've gone through a fair bit of work for 55 odd contracts in order to create that work.  I would suggest that at this point in time, we would leave those contract terms as they are and call this an extraordinary event or whatever, and just include this within the project cost, but not necessarily attributed to those customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, witnesses.  Those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  It’s probably a good time to take our lunch break unless, Mr. Engelberg, you want to start and then we can break in half an hour.  What is your preference?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Whatever.  We can break now.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  You want to go now, and then break at 12:30 for lunch?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Whatever is the preference –

DR. ELSAYED:  Why don’t you go ahead then, and we will roughly schedule the lunch break at about 12:30, at a convenient time.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Engelberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I may skip around a bit with witnesses.  I'm going to ask you a couple of questions now, Mr. Gummow, and I may come back to you later.

The four to six weeks that you spoke of to do the study once you get some additional information from Hydro One, does that include the time it will take, after determination of the mitigation measures, an actual review of whether those mitigation measures will be effective?

MR. GUMMOW:  Mitigation measures are designed to be Effective, and we don't know how effective they are, I guess, until you put the pipeline in.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Would there be any particular studies at other locations to determine whether they would be effective in the field studies, or would it all be on paper in the AC interference study?

MR. GUMMOW:  I'm not sure I understand your question about other situations.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Would there be any field studies of other locations where the separation is of the kind of close proximity that you're hoping for in this case?

MR. GUMMOW:  The answer to that is no, other than referencing to perhaps the procedures done on other such cases.  But other than that, no.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, you mentioned the Correng study, I think; is that correct?

MR. GUMMOW:  The Correng -- the report done in 2009 for Leamington, that's correct.

MR. ENGELBERG:  My understanding, and it may be incorrect, but that was based on a situation where there was approximately 18 metres of separation.

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes, yeah.

MR. ENGELBERG:  If there was separation of that magnitude, 18 metres, you wouldn't have had to address the same arcing issues that we have here in a situation of much closer proximity.  Would you agree with that?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yeah, that's exactly the issue here, is that, rather than using a conventional safe separation distance which is quite conservative, because of the limited space on this right-of-way, we have to consider the safe separation distance in view of the fact you can't get 18 metres.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You also said, I think, that you used a report from CEA in the 1990s.  And I wanted to find out which report that is.  Is it one called "Power Line Ground Fault Effects on Pipelines" from December of 1994?  I think the number is 239T817.

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, I should have it here.

I can't say yes to that without seeing the document.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I don't have it with me, but could you let us know at a convenient time if that's the one you're referring to?

MR. GUMMOW:  Hang on.

Sorry, I don't have that in the material that I have with me.  It was the one done in 1994, I believe, by Power Tech Labs.  I don't think they did another one, so...

MR. ENGELBERG:  That's the date I have too, so I think we're likely talking about the same one.

You mentioned a minute ago that this is the kind of study that has to be done because of the close proximity of the lines on an easement or right-of-way of this magnitude; is that correct?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you aware that the original proposal for years and years and years until a number of weeks ago was that Union's line would be far enough away from Hydro One's approved transmission line that none of this mitigation or studies would have been necessary?

MR. GUMMOW:  I'm aware that there was some change in the arrangement between the power lines and the Union Gas pipeline, but regardless, you still have to do an AC study even though your spacing might be, for instance, greater than 18 metres.  You still have induced AC issues, and you still have AC corrosion issues, so you still have to do a study.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, is it fair to say that you and Union have no doubt as to whether the AC interference study to be done will show any problems?

MR. GUMMOW:  Could you rephrase that, please?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, at item 32 of Union's reply evidence, which was filed last Friday, at page 9 of 9 there is the following statement, and I quote:

"The CSA standard allows for pipelines and transmission towers to be located in close proximity to each other if an AC interference study is completed."

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  It sounds to me that all you have to do is do the study.  It doesn't matter what it shows.

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, I think the study includes mitigation if necessary.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is it possible --


MR. GUMMOW:  That's normal.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is it possible that mitigation may not be possible?

MR. GUMMOW:  No.

MR. ENGELBERG:  How close can lines be to each other if it's always possible?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, it depends on the fault currents and the resistance of the tower and the soil resistivity and the particular geometry, but there was a time when you could place the pipe really close to towers without worrying about it historically.  Now we worry about it.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Why do you worry about it?

MR. GUMMOW:  Because of the possibility of an arc strike that would melt the wall either through or partially.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you aware of the separation traditionally between transmission lines and gas pipelines throughout the province of Ontario; for example, other locations where Union and Hydro One coexist?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, I'm aware of the situations where you have pipelines and power lines relatively close together in a corridor concept where you have to do AC interference study, and part of that study would be, if you were less than what the CSA standard recommends, which is ten metres, then you would -- which they say in the CSA report -- they say that's a conservative value.  And so where you're less than that we actually use a value greater than ten metres.  We use the CEA recommended values of, in this case, 18 metres.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Why did the CSA come up with the ten-metre guideline?  How did that happen?  Did gas pipeline companies and electricity transmission companies participate in the development of that separation?

MR. GUMMOW:  One of the questions that's difficult to answer is why committees do what they do.  And that's an unfair question, because I can't speak for a committee.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, do you know whether Union Gas, for example, and Hydro One were involved in the development of the ten-metre separation that became part of the CSA standard?

MR. GUMMOW:  I don't know.  Although my relationship with Union goes back a long period of time, I don't know for sure.  But I don't think so.  In the standard it says who was on the committee, and if you go back through the standards you can see who is on there.  But I don't think there was a representative from Union Gas.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, you say you've been involved with Union for a long time.  Are you aware that in this project in -- earlier, in the earlier stages, that Union Gas told Hydro One that Union wanted a ten-metre separation?

MR. GUMMOW:  I'm not aware of what that communication was.
MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

I would like to go through a little bit of the history of this now.  And in item 7, number 7, on page 1 of 15 of the environmental report -- and I'm not sure which of you gentlemen on the panel will be able to answer this question.  Maybe more than one -- it said Union has discussed this project with all directly affected landowners.  The landowners have not identified any concerns with the project.

And is it fair to say that Hydro One, because it does not own any actual land, that Union did not discuss it with Hydro One?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, that would be my position from a landowner's perspective.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And item 54 on page 8 of 15 says:

"Permits, approvals, and authorizations are pending from the Municipality of Leamington and Hydro One.  Union expects to receive all approvals prior to construction."

Can you tell me whether that refers to the original route that Union has been telling Hydro One about for years, perhaps since 2012, or is it the route that Union began proposing earlier this year?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry.  Would you restate that question, please?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Item 54 on page 8 of 15 says:
"Permits, approvals, and authorizations are pending from the Municipality of Leamington and Hydro One.  Union expects to receive all approvals prior to construction."

And I'm wondering whether the approval authorization, et cetera, that Union is referring to in that statement when it sought approval from Hydro One refers to the Union route that has been proposed since 2012, or the new route that Union came up with a few weeks ago.

MR. GROCHMAL:  The evidence stated here that you reference is specific to the route that's been filed, the most current route.  So I don't believe it would tie back to the 2012 or earlier discussions around that time frame.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  So I take it that it follows then that Union was confident that Hydro One would have no problem with the severely reduced separation on the proposed new route?

MR. GROCHMAL:  No, I wouldn't characterize it that way.  Union follows standard practice of dealing first with its directly affected land owners for the acquisition of land rights, and after that deals with other encumbrancers that would require coordination with.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Would you put Hydro One with the category of encumbrance, sir, knowing they had been planning since 2010 and had working with Union to build a 230 kV transmission line a few feet away?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Perhaps encumbrancer is -- I'm not sure the best term to describe the relationship.  What I do know is that Hydro One was not a directly affected land owner from whom we were seeking land rates.  Union was, first and foremost, finding a practical pipeline route that works for its project.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, in the environmental report that Union filed, section 3.4.4, which is in the utility section on page 21 of 111, it says and I quote:
"Utilities in the area are –"

MR. HOCKIN:  One moment please.  Can you wait until we call it up?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Sorry.

MR. HOCKIN:  Can you repeat the reference, please?

MR. ENGELBERG:  section 3.4.4 under the heading "Utilities" on page 21 of 111.  It says, and I quote:
"Utilities in the area are limited to natural gas transmission/distribution lines, Bell phone lines, municipal water lines, and rural distribution lines for electricity that serve the area residents and communities."

Why wasn't the electricity transmission line Union knew was going to be built by Hydro One mentioned?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I don't know.  I wasn't responsible for the preparation of the environmental report.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Do you know if the environmental consultant was even given the information?  You wouldn't know one way or the other, right?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I wouldn't know that either.

MR. SMITH:  We're happy to take an undertaking, if you'd like the answer.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.4.  What are you undertaking to do, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Grochmal isn't responsible -- wasn't responsible for the preparation of the environmental assessment.  Frankly, I didn't think there would be questions about the environmental assessment, and that's why we don't have are the person responsible here.

But to the extent my friend wants to ask about the content of the environmental assessment, then we're happy to take undertakings in relation to it.


The question, as I understood it, is why under the heading 3.4.4 was Hydro One’s not proposed -- why was its proposed transmission line not referred to in that section, and whether the consultant was aware of the proposed transmission line.  That's what I understood the question to be.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you; that's J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  UNION TO EXPLAIN WHY UNDER THE HEADING 3.4.4 WAS HYDRO ONE’S PROPOSED TRANSMISSION LINE NOT REFERRED TO IN THAT SECTION, AND WHETHER THE CONSULTANT WAS AWARE OF THE PROPOSED TRANSMISSION LINE

MR. ENGELBERG:  Also in the environmental report, at section 6.1 on page 24 -- and this may partially answer the Undertaking -- it says that in 2012, Hydro One was proposing to use the railway for a transmission line, which limited the availability of the lands for a pipeline.  It says, and I quote:
"Union Gas contacted the municipality during this project again regarding the availability of the railway lands, and Leamington staff confirmed that Hydro One no longer had an interest in the lands," end quote.

When was that exactly?

MR. SMITH:  When was what?  When was it that Leamington staff indicated that?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  If Mr. Grochmal knows the answer, he should Answer it.  But otherwise, we can include it in the undertaking.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Union Gas started discussions with the municipality, as stated in our interrogatory responses, as early as last April to determine the availability of the corridor for a pipeline.

It was over the course of those conversations that it was determined, as stated in Union's interrogatory response, that Hydro One at the time didn't have a formal right or interest in that utility corridor.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Does that end the question?  In other words, Union, I think it's fair to say, had been advised by Hydro One since 2010 that this transmission line was going to be built, and it was going to be built in that railway corridor.  Did Union take that answer from the municipality to mean that Hydro One was no longer going to build the line?

MR. GROCHMAL:  No.  I believe we knew Hydro One was coming at some point.  At the time those conversations took place, as I mentioned starting in early to mid 2015, I don't believe Hydro had an approved project at the time.  I believe it was before the Board.

Union's general approach is that -- I mean we didn't believe it was a 10 metre requirement based on Hydro's plan.  Coming back to Mr. Gummow, our general approach is we have to cooperate and rely on sound engineering practice to establish what safe separation is, and maximize the practical separation as well.  Union has that interest.

MR. ENGELBERG:  But the fact was that Hydro One applied to the Ontario Energy Board for leave to construct in January of 2014.  Isn't that correct?

MR. GROCHMAL:  As I’ve some to understand it, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And Hydro One gave notice to Union Gas of the application for leave under section 92?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Pardon me?  Could you repeat that please?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Hydro One gave notice of the OEB application for leave to construct to Union Gas.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, I don’t disagree.  I believe it's stated in Hydro One's evidence that notice was served to Union Gas when they applied for leave to construct.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And Union chose not to participate in the hearing?

MR. GROCHMAL:  That's my understanding as well.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And can you tell me why that is?

MR. GROCHMAL:  No, I cannot.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, isn't the fact that at the time the application was going on, and in fact the leave to construct was issued to Hydro One in July of 2015, the Union route and the Hydro One route were still more than ten metres apart?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I would say at the time actually that Union didn't have an approved project.  I mean, we didn't really know if this project was -- we were just starting the detailed engineering in 2015.  And it was really on the basis of doing the detailed studies that you determine the final placement of the pipeline, and we weren't in that position at that point in time.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you saying then -- and I'm trying to understand this, because I was of a different understanding -- that Union had not provided its proposed route to Hydro One during the period 2012 to middle of 2015, when Hydro One got leave to construct from the Board?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Can you be more specific as to how Union provided that to Hydro One?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, Union notified Hydro One in February of this year, I think you can agree, that it wanted to move its line from the original proposed location to a location much closer to the Hydro One-approved line because of topographical conditions that Union had discovered; is that correct?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Again, I don't believe Union had determined its exact placement of its pipeline, and until it had done the detailed engineering -- and I do agree with you those details were shared during the coordination meetings from earlier this year.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, then can you explain to us what the reason was for Union's discussion with Hydro One beginning in February, two months ago, that Union wanted to move to a different location on the right-of-way?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I'd say Union at that point in time was prepared to share the details, that it had completed its engineering, its field work, its studies, to determine where it makes the most sense to place the pipeline, and it was in those coordination meetings starting in February that, you know, those details were shared and the rationale for it was shared as well.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, thank you.  Are you saying then that Union had never had a thought to use the more westerly part of the right-of-way for its line and therefore the discussions with Hydro One in February didn't relate to a move, but rather related to where Union probably intended it to be all along?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I wouldn't say Union didn't have a thought.  That would be incorrect.  I mean, I am aware of the e-mail that, you know, communication that Union had provided to Hydro One's design engineer.  I believe end of 2014 was the approximate time of that communication.

And as stated in Union's evidence, if the site conditions hadn't actually changed when you kind of go to -- when you compare kind of the end point of the first phase of the pipeline and the starting point of the second pipeline, in all likelihood Union would have maintained its placement along the western edge of that corridor.

As noted in Union's evidence as well, I mean, that statement was made based on the information at the time.  It was made without the benefit of the detailed engineering, you know, the site work that I've been referring to.  And it was after that time, after that time the work had been done, 2015 and leading to 2016, that we determined we can't maintain that running line.  It's not practical to maintain that running line along the western edge.

MR. ENGELBERG:  So are you now saying that you were originally thinking of having it along the western edge?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Let me rephrase some evidence.  Give me one moment here.

Sir, for my benefit, would you repeat your question one more time, please?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Would someone help me by reading it back?  The reporter, please?

[Reporter reads back.]

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Thank you.

Yeah, just, I can refer you to Union's reply evidence, paragraph 9.  You know, we stated here that:

"Certainly if the topography did not vary significantly south... 14, Union --


MR. SMITH:  You have to slow down.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry about that.  Okay.  Thanks.  Let me restart.

In paragraph 9 under the preferred route we state:

"Certainly if the topography did not vary significantly south of County Road 14 Union would very likely have maintained the running line along the western edge of the corridor."

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, the fact that you said there that Union would have maintained the running line along the western edge of the corridor, that gets back to what I was asking you earlier, and that is, wasn't it Union's intention for years, and didn't Union notify Hydro One for years, that the running line would be on the western edge of the corridor?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I can't speak to the conversation and the communication that took place years ago.  I do know that Union intended to utilize the trail as the route for the pipeline.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, is it correct to say that the topography never changed, that the land to the south, the ditches, the hills, the valleys, always remained the same?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, same in the sense that the ditches might have been there five years ago, although I can't say that for sure.  Different in the sense that the conditions north are not what they are to the south of that road in question, and that changes -- that has implications for pipelines.

MR. ENGELBERG:  When did Union first notice that the topography in the southern part was different from the northern part and that Union would need to move from the western edge of the right-of-way closer to the centre line, closer to Hydro One?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I don't know the exact timing of that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Can you find that out for me?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, sir.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just so I have it, you're looking for the time when the field work was done that assessed the condition south of the county line?

MR. ENGELBERG:  And a little bit more than that, when it became apparent to Union that it would need to move from the original proposed western edge of the corridor much closer to the Hydro One transmission line.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  UNION TO IDENTIFY WHEN THE FIELD WORK WAS DONE THAT ASSESSED THE CONDITION SOUTH OF THE COUNTY LINE AND WHEN IT BECAME APPARENT TO UNION THAT IT WOULD NEED TO MOVE FROM THE ORIGINAL PROPOSED WESTERN EDGE OF THE CORRIDOR MUCH CLOSER TO THE HYDRO ONE TRANSMISSION LINE.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

At item 13 of Union's reply evidence on page 4 of 9 it says that it was toward the end of 2015 that Union agreed to a running line with the municipality and that Union was, at that time, in a position to meet with Hydro One.

My question relates to the fact that there is no date stated.  It says "toward the end of 2015".  Can you tell us when that was?

MR. GROCHMAL:  The basis of that statement was that Union had its land rights established, and I would say that it was early December when Union had council approval of its easement, at which point it had its land right for the pipeline corridor established.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And where was that line going to be within the right of way?  Again, was it the one on the western edge, or the one that is now being proposed?

MR. GROCHMAL:  The one now being proposed.

MR. ENGELBERG:  The Hydro One evidence says that Union didn't tell Hydro One about that in December, early December, when you're now saying that Union was proposing to build its line closer to the Hydro One facility.  Why was Hydro One not told about it then?

MR. GROCHMAL:  In fact, Union did reach out to make contact with Hydro One right around that time, and I believe Union's evidence in its interrogatories supports that.

There was -- up until that point, Union's engineering team wasn't in contact with the specific technical team from Hydro One on that sector project.  Union reached out through our lands group, which normally holds a relationship with Hydro One, and obtained that contact information.  And it was around that time frame that first contact was made and a coordination meeting was set up for February.

MR. ENGELBERG:  So Union didn't tell Hydro One in December, when it found out?  It didn’t tell Hydro One in December or January, and not until February?

MR. GROCHMAL:  We wouldn't know who to tell until we actually determined who the responsible parties are for the sector project and discussions could be initiated.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Are you saying that five years after environmental assessment, and two years after an OEB application for leave to construct, and after ongoing communications with Hydro One, that Union doesn't know whom to contact about matters like this?

MR. GROCHMAL:  To me, this planning process has taken a very long time, and there’s been various people involved at various stages of this coordination process, planning process, and so I'm aware of past contact between certain individuals.

But, I mean, generally speaking, when we want to -- the approach Union took was to find out who was accountable for the overall project, and starting with the project manager would be a reasonable basis there at our end.  And Union just followed its normal process of going through its group that holds a relationship to establish who that individual was.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  So Union finally spoke with Hydro One about the new route in February, is that correct?  I think you said February 25th.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, we have in our evidence that February 25th was the first face-to-face meeting of the technical teams.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Prior to that first face-to-face meeting of the technical teams, had Union told Hydro One about the new route that was moving from the western edge of the corridor to a location in close proximity to Hydro One's transmission line?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  We'll get that from the Hydro One witnesses, that's okay.  At item 19 -- let's say item 16 of Union's reply evidence at page 5 of 9, it says that Hydro One said it was no longer prepared to relocate its towers.  Is that correct?  Is that your understanding?

MR. GROCHMAL:  In the April 1st meeting, yes, Hydro One communicated that they were no longer in a position to realign their towers, and they explained the rationale for it.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, no longer implies that Hydro One must have said earlier that it would relocate its transmission towers.  Is that correct?  Did Hydro One say it would move?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Hydro One proposed a solution coming out of the first technical review, and that -- there was really only one outcome in my mind that came from that first technical review, which was a solution offered by Hydro One to realign some of their towers to accommodate not only the separation they sought, but also some of the environmental features that were discussed and reviewed in the meeting.

In coming out of that meeting, the plan was to reconvene in a few weeks to look at a detailed design on that basis.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Isn't it fair -- maybe Union and Hydro One are on the same page here.  What Hydro One says in its evidence, and what its witnesses will say is that Hydro One agreed to go away and take a look at whether Union's proposal could be accommodated -- isn't that fair? -- to see whether it would be possible to move, to see what it would entail, to see whether it would work?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I would say that was proposed because, as an engineer, I don't consider anything final until you have a set of drawings and there’s an engineer’s stamp on it.

But it was a very detailed review in the February 25th meeting with discussion of cost implications, of the design variables, and the clear outcome was that Hydro One was proposing to realign certain towers, adjust other design variables, and it was agreeable to all parties, and that we were going to reconvene and review it in detail at a subsequent meeting.

But there was agreement in the sense that everyone thought this was a really good idea.  It had technical merit.  It was viewed from various angles, and we all agreed this is a solution that would work for everybody, and that we would reconvene in two weeks and review it in detail.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is it fair to say that if it could have been done, it would have worked?

MR. GROCHMAL:  What do you mean by that?  Could you clarify, please?

MR. ENGELBERG:  If Hydro One had come back to you, to Union Gas and said yes, it will be possible for us to move our towers, that would have solved the problem, right?

MR. GROCHMAL:  What problem are you referring to?

MR. ENGELBERG:  The close separation of the lines.

MR. GROCHMAL:  No, Union doesn't view it as a problem the same way Hydro One does.  We're very concerned about separation, and that concern was shared in the discussions.  Union has a strong interest in maintaining separation.

But right from the start coming out of the February 25th meeting, the intent was to do an AC mitigation regardless of whether Hydro could move

Union would move because it's Union principle that you study this whenever you have joint corridor use of pipe lines and power lines.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In the reply evidence of Union at item 19, it says Union -- I'll quote.
"Union believes that the separation will be approximately five metres."

I'm going to suggest to you that the word believes is usually used when the person making the statement isn't positive about that.

How positive is Union in its statement that the separation will be five metres and not more, and not less?

MR. GROCHMAL:  It’s only as good the information provided.  And as I said earlier, Hydro One has provided details of their standard line; Hydro has provided details of their foundations.  So it's on that basis that five metres – it’s not just a belief.  It's a summation of various dimensions as laid out in the example I provided this morning.

MR. ENGELBERG:  The exact location of Hydro One's line was provided to Union as part of the environmental assessment process that Hydro One went through before the leave to construct application was filed with the Ontario Energy Board.  Will you acknowledge that?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, would you please clarify?  Acknowledge what exactly?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Hydro One provided Union Gas with the exact location of Hydro One's transmission line before Hydro One applied to the Ontario Energy Board for leave to construct in January of 2014?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I don't know if exact is correct or not.  What I do know is we were aware of a general route and cross-sections were provided.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, I don't want to be unfair to you.  Hydro One's evidence will be that the environmental assessment showed the exact route, and that was what was shown to the Ontario Energy Board.

Do you disagree with that, or you don't know one way or the other?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I don't know.  I don't know the details of the environmental assessment on Hydro's end.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I would like to look at my notes for just a minute to see if I'm -- I think I'm just about finished.

Thank you.  At page 4 of 11 of the answers to interrogatories, Union said that it was aware of Hydro One's project.  I'll wait until it turns around.

In item C Union said that it was aware of Hydro One's project and that in December 2015 it became aware of Hydro One's pre-construction activities.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, which question are you looking at?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Page 4 of 11.

MR. HOCKIN:  My understanding is -- is that HONI question 4?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.  Okay.  I'm sorry, I have it down as...

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Engelberg, which Hydro One question is it that you're asking about?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Let me find it for you.

MR. SMITH:  Question 3, perhaps?

MR. ENGELBERG:  3.  3C, second paragraph of page 4 of 11.  I just want to ask you, Union was aware that Hydro One obtained leave to construct from the Board in July of 2015; is that correct?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Is this in reference to a certain point in time or as of right now?

MR. ENGELBERG:  This is -- this is in reference to the time when Hydro One obtained the leave in July of 2015 on through to the rest of 2015.

Was Union aware of it right away?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I don't know if Union was made aware right away or not.  I don't know.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, Union filed an e-mail from Union to Hydro One dated December 2nd, and that e-mail appears at Schedule 1 to Union's answers to interrogatories at page 2 of 3.

If you can scroll down, I think I saw it from December 2nd.  There it is.  And it says that Union spoke to landowners and heard they were getting letters from Hydro One.  Then it says, and I quote:

"It appears that Hydro has plans to construct a transmission line in the municipality next year."

Was this a surprise to Alicja Pagaduan?  Or was it a surprise to Union?  That's why I asked you the question about when Union became aware that Hydro One had obtained leave to construct five months earlier.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, I don't know -- I don't know who became aware when exactly of Hydro's approval for the SECTR project.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In C of Union's answers it also says that Union contacted Hydro One on February 1, 2016 -- I'll wait until we turn that up.  This is an answer, not an e-mail.

There it is, the second paragraph under C:

"Union contacted the SECTR project manager on February 2016."

And it says:

"Union was interested in understanding the scope and schedule of the SECTR project."

And I would like to ask you about that.  Wasn't the scope of the SECTR project known to Union for years?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Perhaps scope in a general sense, when you have a general route in high-level parameters, but the context here was getting some level of detail as -- you know, we'd come to learn in that first coordination meeting Hydro One hadn't completed their detail design.  They still had work to do.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm putting to you that Hydro One didn't have a general route, Hydro One had a specific exact route and had provided it to Union years before.  Do you disagree with that?

MR. GROCHMAL:  No, I don't.  But it's insufficient detail, in my view, to work through issues or challenges such as the electrical and interference impacts of co-location.

MR. ENGELBERG:  But Union certainly knew before this February date that it was proposing to move from the western side of the corridor to the middle of the corridor closer to Hydro One.  It knew that as early as the beginning of December, correct?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, certainly.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.

We will now break for lunch, and we will resume at 1:45.
--- Luncheon recess at 12:50 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 1:48 p.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  I think it's Mr. Buonaguro's turn for cross-examination.  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon, panel.

I'm going to start with a clarification question.  And at OGVG number 4 part K, so interrogatory response 4K, we asked about the aids to construct, how many at the then time -- how many executed contracts/letter agreements had an aid to construct included in them, and the answer there that there was four.  And my understanding from the testimony today is that the ultimate number out of the 55 executed agreements --and I use agreements loosely -- there's three.

Which one is correct?

MR. BOYER:  The updated evidence where we have indicated three is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding from earlier today is that those three all relate to contracts where the minimum annual volume that the customer would agree to commit to based on their – I’ll put it in quotes -- normal usage would have required a contract term of more than 10 years.

MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.  Just on the qualification, not necessarily the minimum annual volume, but the resulting revenue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  From the minimum value?

MR. HOCKIN:  I think one of the customers is a general service customer, which has no minimum annual volume per se.  But to be clear, the revenue service is insufficient in 10 years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough, okay.  But that's based on what they anticipated using?

MR. BOYER:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, can you tell me what the three aids to construct were in terms of dollar value?

MR. BOYER:  Bear with me one second.  In the updated evidence for Board staff question 3B, we provided the range from 11,180 to 118,820 for the range.  I can include the other, which was 63,746 for the three in total.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  And my Understanding -- there was a range of reasons for why that situation arose in these three cases.  One of them was that the customer-specific connection capital requirements were particularly high.

MR. HOCKIN:  No, I said that's a possible reason as to why they might occur.  Keep in mind that the mathematics is simply the incremental revenue relative to the incremental costs.

So depending upon the rate class and depending upon how much incremental revenue that they’re contracting for, that's the revenue stream against which we have the cost.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So for example, it may be a situation where the firm capacity they require, presumably at the peak, was very high, but that their annual consumption was very low compared to their -- I guess the normal consumption related to firm capacity.

MR. HOCKIN:  Maybe I’ll try it another way.  If they're converting from interruptible to firm, that is the -- and they did not change their peak day or their contract quantity, then the revenue we're getting is only the difference between the current interruptible rate and the firm rate.

So the customers are a combination.  There’s 50 of them, or 55 of them.  It is a combination of customers who are new load, or conversion of interruptible load to new, or a combination of that.

So those three types of groups of customers all result individually with different incremental revenues associated with the new firm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That's interesting, and I want to make sure I understood it.  So you're saying that – well, one of the things you said there was that if a customer who had previously obtained or been using interruptible service was converting to firm as a result of signing a contract related to this expansion, they were only being credited for the incremental revenue differential between their interruptible load and their firm load.  That's what I heard.

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.  The incremental revenue is essentially my contract – sorry, the customer's contract parameters times the rate; the contract parameters, the new ones, minus the contract parameters that they're providing right now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Why would you treat a previously interruptible customer like that, as though they're not a new customer, because we – I think you went through this in detail with Board staff about the uncertainty related to interruptible, and the fact that you don't allocate any of the costs to interruptible customers when putting in new projects.

How come, at the same time for a new project, you're treating them as existing customers and only including their incremental revenue?

MR. HOCKIN:  I don't seem to understand the question.  The premise always is what is the incremental investment, what's the incremental revenue.  Whether or not they are an existing interruptible customer converting to firm will change the mathematics, but it doesn’t change the methodology, which says how much new revenue will I get relative to this new cost I'm going to incur.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe we can use an example.  So if we can turn up from your evidence the schedule shows that the customer listings, so schedule 3, redacted customer listing that's schedule 3.  Do you have that?

I'm picking at random just to bring up an example so you can explain it to me.  So if you look at customer number one, you've got them listed as new firm capacity, 451 units; do you see that?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then you have customer 10, which is 467 conversion of interruptible to firm capacity.

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

 MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, there’s a slight differential of 16 units.  So let's pretend, for the sake of argument, that the 10 was actually 451.  So 451 new, 451 converted, and let's assume their minimum annual volumes were the same for the 10 years.

Are you telling me they're treated the same from a revenue perspective, or are they treated differently -- i.e., in the second case, you're only including some sort of incremental revenue calculation which --

MR. HOCKIN:  We treat them exactly the same.  Customer number one, if all the numbers here -- their incremental revenue is associated with the 451; their current revenue is zero.  The second customer is a conversion customer; their incremental revenue is the number of – I guess the 467 minus their current number, which is X -- whatever X might be.  The methodology is exactly the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Except that you’re -- even though their firm capacity under the new line is identical, the person converting from interruptible to firm is getting credit for less revenue when doing the calculation in terms of what kind of contract requirements you're going to impose on them; isn't that right?  In direct terms, 451 minus zero, right?

MR. HOCKIN:  In direct terms, the new cash in the door is the revenue stream.  It matters not whether or not it is an upgrade of interruptible to firm, or whether or not it's zero revenue going to a new number, the mathematics and the principle are exactly the same.  How much new cash is going to be reflected in our rates as a result of this investment when we do our rebasing in 2019.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How come, when it comes to questions about accounting for new interruptible revenue as associated with the new pipeline, you're not including anything?

MR. HOCKIN:  Because there isn't any.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let's go back then.  For the pipeline – for Leamington phase one, right, my understanding is that there was no interruptible revenue included in that either, correct, in terms of the DSF analysis and the contract provisions and so on.

MR. HOCKIN:  I think that is incorrect.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You think -- I'm sorry, you did include interruptible revenue as part of the calculation?

MR. HOCKIN:  I'm going to do this by memory, so let's accept the record for that.  The Leamington phase 1 project was a request for service, and the people that signed up for service signed up for firm and interruptible, so the revenue stream at the forecast date was based upon X customers at firm load and Y customers at interruptible load.  And some of those firm customers were also converting from interruptible to firm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. HOCKIN:  So at the time of Leamington 1 there was customers requesting interruptible.  They were awarded capacity to accommodate that, and that's why we had interruptible revenue in the forecast, because that was part of the contract parameters that were signed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


Now, you used the word "requesting".  My understanding of the process is that at some point Union puts out an expression-of-interest document asking potential customers to tell them what services they will take, and they have given options, right?

MR. BOYER:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if we go back to the Leamington phase 1 expression of interest or similar process, at some point an expression of interest went out to customers asking them how much firm and how much interruptible service they might be interested in on the new line.

MR. BOYER:  For Leamington phase 1 that was part of the expression of interest in the marketplace.  For Leamington phase 2 we were receiving requests, a number of requests, prior to the expression of interest for firm capacity only, not for interruptible.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But did you follow up with an expression-of-interest process asking people how much interruptible they might want, the same way you asked in the phase 1?

MR. BOYER:  We did not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably that's why you don't know and therefore don't forecast any interruptible revenue as part of this process?

MR. BOYER:  The expression of interest did not include the ability for the customer to request an interruptible, so as such that was not included then in the overall economics of the project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.


A little bit off-track there.  You were -- I had asked about the three aids to construct that were -- as part of this process after the 55 agreements had been signed.  And I cannot recall if I asked this question.  If you could tell me how long those contracts would have had to have been to obviate the need for the aid-to-construct?  I don't think I asked that question.  I'm presuming they're all ten-year contracts, correct?


MR. HOCKIN:  Ten years is the maximum.  I don't have that -- how long it might be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I get that by way of undertaking, how long those three contracts would have to be in order to obviate the need for the aid-to-construct that they've agreed to?

MR. HOCKIN:  Well, it's an academic exercise.  That's not what the contract customers have signed for.  That's not the principle of what we're doing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So what I do with that information is a matter of argument.  I think it's a pretty simple mathematical calculation, simple for you, anyway, not for me.  You don't have to do it now.  It can be by way of undertaking.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Hockin, you have the information there.  Otherwise --


MR. HOCKIN:  I don't have the information for the three of them, no.

MR. SMITH:  We'll do it by way of undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  UNION TO IDENTIFY HOW LONG THOSE THREE CONTRACTS WOULD HAVE TO BE IN ORDER TO OBVIATE THE NEED FOR THE AID-TO-CONSTRUCT THAT THEY'VE AGREED TO.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.


Now, I have a follow-up question with respect to some of the interchange you had or exchange you had with Mr. Millar.  He had asked you to hypothesize the impact of adding interruptible revenue to the discounted cash-flow analysis, and I want to make sure I understood the way you put the example back to him.  And this is the example where you say that the impact was a change in the per cubic metre cost of firm capacity from 230 to 215.  Do you recall that?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So my understanding -- and please correct me if I'm wrong -- the assumption you made in that was adding to the discounted cash-flow analysis revenue from interruptible service for one year; is that right?  Or is it for more than one year?

MR. HOCKIN:  Would you like me to --

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can say it better than I can.

MR. HOCKIN:  Maybe we can turn up the actual DCF -- I may have to refer to that -- which is Schedule 8.  So looking at this on-screen, this is the PI of 1.11, which occurs in year 10, and you can see somewhere between years 8 and 9 it would be a PI of 1.  It goes from .93 to 102 closer to year 9.  This is based upon the firm revenues, the new contract customers.


If I were to attribute interruptible revenue to the project I would need less revenue from the firm customers, and so instead of going through the -- instead of attributing $230 to each of the firm customers I would attribute a smaller number to each of those firm customers.


At the end of the day it wouldn't change the revenue stream that you see across here, because I would be simply taking a look at individual -- every one of those 55 customers and then saying I calculated you at eight years.  If I change the allocation of cost does it reduce it to seven years or still 7-point part years and still making it eight.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I just interrupt just to make sure I understand?  I understand what you're saying.  It doesn't change the revenue stream, but it would change the minimum contract term for some customers, possibly, depending on how much revenue we're talking about?

MR. HOCKIN:  Right, so let me finish with that.  What I did look at was we did a half a dozen customers, we didn't do every one, and say if we attribute 100 percent of the interruptible capacity, if people built new acres and filled that full for one year, that 8- or $900,000 worth of revenue, that would be reflected in the contracts.  We would reduce that charge down to 215.


I did half a dozen of those contracts to see whether or not it would change the term of those contracts, and for most of them it did not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that -- there is a part in there that I was asking confirmation on.  You made the assumption of maximum interruptible revenue, but only for one year.


MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So -- and I think you have undertakings to Mr. Millar on this.  If you assumed maximum interruptible revenue for ten years, the impact on the other customers in terms of contract length might be more material.  Isn't that necessarily true?

MR. HOCKIN:  It would be change -- it would be more fiction, but it would change the mathematics.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, it's interesting you say it's more fiction.  It's more fiction because, as I understand it, the problem with the interruptible revenue is that you don't have contracts underpinning it.

MR. HOCKIN:  If these customers were prepared to contract and if we were to -- if we wanted to have some assurances for the rest of the customers that the revenue was there, we would ask them to contract for the amount of interruptible revenue that they would want to contract for.  If we had a contract for interruptible revenue we could reduce the contracts for the firm customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But I think we just went through -- I don't think Union ever asked anybody if they wanted it, as compared to phase 1, where there was an actual expression of interest asking about interruptible service.  I'm just curious.  It seems to me that you're definitively treating it like there is going to be no interruptible revenue in -- related to phase 2, but unlike phase 1, you didn't actually ask anybody if there is going to be interruptible -- interest in interruptible service.

MR. BOYER:  Based on prior to the expression of interest, we had received -- our account managers within the sector had received requests from customers to convert and/or add new firm load.  We were not receiving any requests for new interruptible load, and that was due to the fact that prior to the expression of interest, the two winters prior, there was quite a number of interruptions within the service to the Leamington market, and those customers wanted to avoid that situation.

So we were not receiving an indication from the market that there was a need or desire for new firm -- or new interruptible capacity.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to leave it at this.  It's not Union's position that there will be no use of an interruptible capacity, is it?  I think what you're saying is there might be.  You don't have contracts for it now, and I think we’ve established you haven't specifically offered it to anybody yet.

MR. BOYER:  All of those statements are true.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Which also means there might be interruptible revenue?

MR. BOYER:  There might be.  But that would be then a risk if there is not, to include those in the project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  There would be a risk in the sense that you might have contracted for less – for less money, I'll put it, with the firm customers as part of this process?  The contracts wouldn't be sufficient to underpin the project in the way you want it to --


MR. BOYER:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- if the interruptible doesn't materialize.  That’s the problem?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.  If the market wants interruptible Revenue, they would have come to us.  If there was real interruptible revenue that is available for that, that could reduce the firm.  But at the end of the day, it's dividing the pie up into different pieces.  You still recovery of the same amount of money.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking quickly at the PCF that’s on the screen, and the question about risk -- and I think you may have talked about this with Mr. Millar; I'm not sure.  The company's rebasing, or is scheduled to rebase when?  2019 is the next rebasing year?

MR. HOCKIN:  2019, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And year one is 2016, November 2016, assuming there is no delay?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So year one is 2016, year two is 2017, year three is 2018.  So year four is the same as the year of rebasing -- subject to the fact that your years might be starting different months, it’s around year four?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes, this is a project year, so these are November through October time periods.  But yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So on or near, or just after year four, assuming the project goes as planned, the entire project gets close to rate base, all the costs?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And all of the OM&A costs become part of the OM&A forecast costs for the company?

MR. HOCKIN:  The OM&A and the revenues are all part of the rate recalculation, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So at that point, the risk with respect to the contracting with the new firm customers passes on to the customer base that has to pay for the shortfall?

MR. HOCKIN:  I don't know if that's true, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, if in year four, all the customers you signed contracts with go bankrupt and they can’t pay their contracts and you have no contracts left, the project goes into rate base and the costs become allocated across all existing customers?

MR. HOCKIN:  If all the customers went out of business before we were able to put it in rates, then the asset would be reflected in rates and the revenue forecast would be zero.  If it happens at any time thereafter, then the assets in rate base, the revenues in the forecast for the next IRM period, if there is one – so if, for example, another five or six years, then those revenues would be committed to that forecast for that time period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  To be clear, most of those new customers are part of OGVG; I'm not saying they're going anywhere.  It’s purely hypothetical; I just wanted to get that clear, so thank you.

I have just two or three more questions, and these have to do with the issues raised by the HONI evidence, the One evidence.

Very quickly, there has been a lot of talk about an AC interference -- thank you Mr. Smith -- an AC interference study.  But I don't think there has been anything on the record about the estimated costs for that kind of a study.

Can someone comment on approximately how much that costs to do?

MR. GUMMOW:  No, I didn't bring with me estimated cost, but it's in the four figures -- five figures, sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Fair enough  that's good for my purposes.

The second part of my question is this: With respect to the measures that such a study might require of one or both companies in order to operate within a certain --whatever the projected clearance is going to be, what type of quantum of costs are we talking about?

What I have so far with respect to this issue is Union saying that the estimated cost of moving the pipeline in a particular way would be around 1.5 million dollars plus a Delay.  But I don't have the counter, which is how much does it cost to -- or possibly cost to -- I don't want to say rehabilitate the design in order to accommodate whatever the AC interference study might require of it.

MR. GUMMOW:  You mean to install mitigation and monitoring facilities?  The cost of that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably, if that's with a the interference study tells the Board what needs to be done, then yes.   I'm talking about scale.  O know you haven’t done the --


MR. GUMMOW:  Oh, about five figures as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So far from the 1.5 million dollars to move the line then?

MR. GUMMOW:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Any questions?

MR. PASTIRIK:  I just have a couple of questions for clarification.  One is on the economic analysis; the PI is 1.10.

I want to be clear.  Is that without any aid-to-construct reflected, so the aid-to-construct would in fact pump that up just a bit?

MR. HOCKIN:  Good question.  The only one that I’ve got in evidence is the one on the screen, and at the time it was prepared, we were assuming no aid.  So if we have three customers with aid, that will reduce that figure of 14,055 capital and so the PI on that would be slightly higher.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Great, thank you.  And you also referenced earlier that you would typically in an expansion project go for an aid-to-construct if the customer wasn't paying for its own individual costs, the economics wouldn't -- you'd go to each customer for an aid-to-construct.  Is that just for commercial customers, or would that be for any customer?

MR. HOCKIN:  Well, these facilities are being built for these customers.  So that's the way it would be done for facilities that are – I’ll say specific for specific customers.

If this was a line that was being used to feed the Town of Leamington in general, then there isn't specific customers necessarily that is part of that, and so it wouldn't be attributed to those.  But this is being completely consumed by a specified group of customers.

MR. PASTIRIK:  But you might go for an aid if it was for a customer in the Town the Leamington that was far enough away from the main, for example?

MR. HOCKIN:  Not for this project.  But if we had a single little line extension for a single customer, and they were a distance away, then yes, we always run economics on individual customer groups.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you.  One other question I have for Mr. Gummow around your study, you mentioned earlier four to six weeks.  We did hear that for the study, that the schedule is going to be pretty tight.  Do you have any confidence or thoughts around being able to get this completed around four, just to give a little more room to  the schedule?

MR. GUMMOW:  I think there's a good chance of getting it done on the lower end of that estimate.

MR. PASTIRIK:  And the other question I have is that Hydro One had indicated if they have a change in routing, they will have an extra cost of about $2 million and a s-x-month delay.  And Union indicated if they had to make a change, it would be about one and a half million dollars.  Do you have any idea how much delay you would incur as a result of that?

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, Union -- if Union were in a position to start by mid July in our best estimate, and if we see unfavourable weather come in on November 1 – which is a  factor, whether you can extend your construction schedule on the back end – then completion wouldn't be until sometime in 2017.

MR. PASTIRIK:  It would get delayed into 2017, you expect?

MR. GROCHMAL:  That's correct.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Just a few clarifying questions.

On the issue that Mr. Pastirik raised, it was mentioned earlier, the fact that typically the 1.11 is based on the assumption -- on average, the average cost, and if that was the case there would be no need for aid-to-construct, and the reason you do ask for aid-to-construct is of course some customers have higher than average capital cost; is that correct?

MR. HOCKIN:  No, so I would reframe that if I may.  The outcome of 1.11, 1.10 today is because we've added up the data for each of the 55 customers, the revenue stream for each of those.  It is not a matter that it's the average cost of that in any matter, it is the cost for all those customers, the revenue for all those customers, and then the aggregate outcome of all that with a ten-year term is the PI of 1.1.

DR. ELSAYED:  I'm just going by your response to Board Staff 2, page 6.  It says that Union assumed -- this is under item C, page 6 of 17.  In the second paragraph there it says Union assumed a revenue term of ten years and so on, resulting in a PI of 1.11, which indicated on average no AID requirement.  When capital is allocated to individual customers, the customer will choose how to cover their specific capital cost and will (sic) customers with capital costs higher than the average used in the overall project DCF may need to pay an AID if a revenue term of ten years is insufficient to cover that cost.

Is that an accurate statement?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yeah, when I read the response there I'm not sure why we have reference to "average".  It's really -- it's a look back, if you will, in the context of the outcome, as opposed to the methodology that I had described, which is a process of stepping towards the outcome.

So the AID is required when the revenue for an individual customer is not sufficient for their costs for their customer -- for that customer.  The reference of an average is, I think, not helpful in that paragraph.

DR. ELSAYED:  But even if it isn't the case that if it is insufficient for that particular customer, and the overall PI is 1.11, wouldn't that imply that for some other customers it is more than sufficient?

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  If I were one of those customers, what benefit do I have from the fact that my capital cost is -- or my contribution is more than sufficient?

MR. HOCKIN:  Just one moment.

I'm going to ask again to turn back to the DCF sheet, which is Schedule 8, so in the context of this, the PI, as we talked before, is 1 generally about year 9.  We also talked about customers that have a range for their individual PI somewhere between two years and ten years in order to pay off their costs.

What this tells me by looking at this in aggregate is that the weighted number in aggregate is closer to nine years than it is to any of those other years.  So the people that have contracted for two years have fulfilled their share.  That's the advantage that they have, because they have either low cost or high revenue for their incremental piece, whereas other customers need to go out further to the right to those latter years.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.

There has been some discussion about the meeting that took place on February 25th, 2016, and I think there was a statement to the effect that there was a -- I'm now talking about the separation distance between the pipe and the Hydro One line -- that there was a mutually agreeable solution.

Were there minutes to that meeting?  Because I couldn't find any in evidence.

MR. GROCHMAL:  No, there were not.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  But there obviously is no agreement as to what transpired out of that meeting.

MR. GROCHMAL:  As it currently stands there is no agreement at this point.  What was originally discussed and taken away as a proposed solution is no longer the case, based on the subsequent meeting that took place on April 1st.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Do I understand it correctly that Union did revise the location of the pipe in February of this year?

MR. GROCHMAL:  No, it was -- no, that's not the case, actually.  That process took place in 2015 when Union did its detailed engineering and site work to determine the exact placement of its running line within the corridor.  It was determined prior to February.

DR. ELSAYED:  When did you submit the application to the OEB?

MR. GROCHMAL:  I believe it was early January, is it not?

MR. SMITH:  January.  January 14th.

DR. ELSAYED:  So the location that is in the application is the one that you are still proposing.  There is no change.

MR. GROCHMAL:  That's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  And it was also the location that you included in your environmental report and so on.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  There has not been any change as far as any other approvals.

MR. SMITH:  No, no, there is no -- what's reflected in the application is the route that Union is proposing and the one that is reflected in Union's environmental assessment.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Last question is, going back to the possible mitigation measures for the separation distance, I just want to confirm what Mr. Gummow had said.  Correct me if I'm wrong, but I thought I heard that there's always mitigation measures possible in these circumstances.

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes --


DR. ELSAYED:  Is that correct?

MR. GUMMOW:  -- yes, because you have induced currents in the pipelines, and they -- under fault conditions they -- those voltages may rise, and so you have some mitigation to keep the touch voltage down to less than 15 volts.

Also, you have mitigation to maintain an AC interference current density off the pipe such that it's a stage below a threshold level so the AC current won't cause corrosion on that pipe structure.

So these are issues that are dealt with or addressed in addition to the separation issue.

DR. ELSAYED:  So how is that threshold level determined?  Is it associated with a certain level of risk?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, the answer to that is yes, because there's no zero risk, but there has been a considerable amount of work done on AC corrosion that is identifying the parameters that are important in AC corrosion.  And so the values that are now being applied are a result of some recent research work.

So if we went back to this original report in 2009, we would do that slightly differently this time around to adjust for the new information.

DR. ELSAYED:  Just to be clear, is it possible that the analysis, the outcome of the analysis could be that there are no practical mitigation measures that would bring the risk level to an acceptable level?

MR. GUMMOW:  No, in my opinion there's -- I can't foresee a situation that cannot be mitigated here.

DR. ELSAYED:  Even if separation distance is extremely small?

MR. GUMMOW:  Even if it’s extremely small.  The fault currents are small.  Even a conservative calculation, distances, separation distances are small.

So I'm perfectly confident you can put this pipe in with the appropriate mitigation measures and it will be safe, from an electrical point of view – unless, for some reason, the parameters change on the power line.

DR. ELSAYED:  Are you aware of any other examples of real life situations where such measures have been put in place with distances that are similar to what we're talking about here?

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, normally the separation distances are not necessarily calculated when you're outside these recommended values.  So it's only when the pipe and the power lines get closer than these.

So it's not -- these calculations for the separation distance are not done all the time.  They are done only when you're less than the recommended separation distance.

So there are lots of those, particularly on power lines that do not have the shield wires.  When the power line does not have a shield wire, all the fault current is going down that tower, and that changes things very dramatically.  When you have these shield wires on the power line, they take and distribute the fault current for quite long distances, which means you have very little fault current coming down the tower.  And therefore, the separation distances are really quite tiny.

So yes, you can go much less than these 10 metres of separation distance in many, many, many cases.

DR. ELSAYED:  I am not just talking about the 10 metres.  Like if you -- if we maintain the current proposed locations by both Union and Hydro One the way they are proposed right now, my question is:  Are you aware of examples where the separation is similar, and there have been no problems with that lack of sufficient distance?

MR. GUMMOW:  No, they're all mitigatable, without problems.

MR. SMITH:  If I may be of assistance?  I think the Chair is asking you are there examples that you can think of where you have -- call it 5 metres, we would say distance -- and that has been a mitigatable risk.  I think he is asking you specifically in your experience are you aware of such examples?

MR. GUMMOW:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe you can expand on that.

MR. GUMMOW:  Well, in a number of these situations where you're less than the recommended distance, the calculations indicate that you can be quite close to the tower without suffering a problem.  So when you go ahead on that basis, I'm not aware of any issues where there has been an arc strike on a pipe and it melted a hole in the wall, and so on and so forth, when following these calculations.

There was a Union Gas project, I guess generically  called the Blue Water Project, where it was less than one metre and it was accepted.  It was accepted -- the procedure was to double-wrap the pipe with coating to protect it from voltage stress in the event of a fault.

DR. ELSAYED:  Is that in operation at the moment?

MR. GUMMOW:  As far as I know, yes.

MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, it parallels next tower power line.

DR. ELSAYED:  How long has it been in operation?  One year?  Ten years?  Twenty?

MR. GROCHMAL:  It would be in the last few years, referencing when the power line was installed.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.  Mr. Smith, redirect to your panel?

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I believe the questions that have been asked cover all the re-examination I was going to have, save one.

Just one question for you, Mr. Boyer.  We've talked a number of times about customers contracted MAV, you’ll recall that.  And to your knowledge, either directly or through your sales rep, are you aware or do you have any reason to believe there are any customers who have contracted for quantities of gas that they do not intend to consume?

MR. BOYER:  No, I'm not aware of any customer that would do such.

MR. SMITH:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Okay.  This would probably be a good time, since we're going to change panels, to take a 15-minute break until 2:50.

I would like to thank the Union panel for their time and contribution, and we'll be back at 2:50.
--- Recess taken at 2:36 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:51 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Mr. Engelberg, if you would like to introduce your panel before we affirm them.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.  Have they been affirmed?

DR. ELSAYED:  No, not yet.  If you want to just introduce them by name, and then we will affirm them, I guess.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  To the right closest to the dais is Patricia Staite, senior environmental planner, environmental engineering and project support.  To her right is Mehrgan Mazaheri, project manager, from project delivery.  To his right is Bing Young, director of system planning, and at the far left is Dr. Luis Marti, who is the director of reliability studies, strategies, and compliance.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1

Patricia Staite, Affirmed

Mehrgan Mazaheri, Affirmed

Bing Young, Affirmed

Luis Marti, Affirmed

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

Mr. Engelberg, your examination.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Engleberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  Members of the panel, your CVs have been filed with the Board.  Does everyone have those?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

I would just like to ask you a couple of questions from right to left.

Ms. Staite, can you tell me what your responsibilities include and how long you've been with Hydro One?

MS. STAITE:  I've been with Hydro One since I started in 1979, and I was with them for about ten years doing environmental work.  I worked with forestry, I worked on new transmission line routing, and then I did some consulting work and came back in about 1998 and did more various environmental projects, which did include environmental assessment work, which I've done consistently since 2005, just solely doing environmental assessment work.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.

And Mr. Mazaheri, what is it that you're involved with and what is your relationship to this project in particular?

MR. MAZAHERI:  I'm the project manager for Hydro One project, and so I've been involved with this project for about a year.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And Mr. Young, what is your involvement with this project and what is your experience at Hydro One?

MR. YOUNG:  I've been with Hydro One almost 30 years, with the except of a three-and-a-half-year break when I was the Ontario Power Authority as director of transmission integration there.  My role in this project is to provide the planning and the overall project oversight for this -- for the Leamington SECTR project.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Dr. Marti, could you tell us what your expertise is and what your job tasks are at Hydro One?

DR. MARTI:  I've been with Ontario Hydro/Hydro One for more than 25 years, less than 30, and for the largest part of that career I've been involved in a group that's called Special Studies that does specialized studies and simulations in a variety of things from lightning grounding, induction coordination, compatibility, this kind of stuff, and currently I'm in a position of director of special -- reliability studies, et cetera, et cetera, but under my umbrella the Special Studies group remains, and through legacy and the fact that I still have not forgotten so many things, I still help every once in a while, especially to bring up the young 'uns (ph).

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Dr. Marti.  I notice your resume is quite long and you have a number of published papers, and because of the fact that I'm going to seek to qualify you as a witness I'm going to ask you what areas of expertise a review of power line separation from gas pipelines involves.  We've heard from the expert from Union Gas.  He is an expert in corrosion of pipelines.

Could you tell us what other aspects there are in the relationship and the dangers between co-location of gas pipelines and electrical transmission lines and what your area is of expertise with those tasks?

DR. MARTI:  I'll start with the first two or three of those questions.

My involvement or -- I have had a lot of experience into what's called induction coordination for at least 15, 20 years, and what it means is interaction between power lines and pipelines, railway and whatnot, so I have been doing that for quite a long time, since probably '90s.

The other part of my skill set is, I've done a lot of work both in doing my Ph.D. thesis and work afterwards in Ontario Hydro and the modelling and simulation of what's called electromagnetic transience, so that includes aspects of fault currents, lightning, breaking arcs, that kind of stuff.

What else have I done?  I've also been doing a lot of work with grounding, so issues such as if there is a fault in the station fence are you going to be safe if you're that far away.  That's what's called step and touch potential, that -- and it's also called induction coordination.

What else?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Those areas that you just mentioned, grounding, induction coordination, lightning, and arcing, are those all relevant to the --


DR. MARTI:  Yes, they are.

MR. ENGELBERG:  -- possible location of these two facilities?

DR. MARTI:  Yes, they are, and that's the reason why I have been involved, but I also have the advantage of having had a long history of modelling experience in fairly complex systems, which has been given me opportunity to be able to assess modern methods, advantages, disadvantages, weaknesses, and strengths.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What is your familiarity with the CSA guidelines that have been talked about so far in this proceeding?

DR. MARTI:  I was asked to be part of a drafting team for the revised version, and that was finally published in 2013, I believe.  And I was one of a number of representatives.  It was an attempt to make a balance between industry, gas pipelines industry, and consultants, so there were two representatives from Correng, there was one representative from Union Gas, there were representatives from Enbridge and whatnot, as well as Hydro One, B.C. Hydro, and other utilities in Canada.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, I would like to put forward Dr. Marti as an expert in the subject matter that he will be testifying on.

DR. ELSAYED:  Can you be specific about the area that you are qualifying him as an expert for?

MR. ENGELBERG:  He will be giving expert evidence on the matter of the study that is proposed to be done by Union Gas, the AC interference study, the problems inherent in locating pipelines and electricity transmission lines closely, issues on grounding, the effects of lightning, the possibility and effects of arcing, and induction coordination.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith --


MR. SMITH:  I have a number of questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.  Go ahead.

MR. SMITH:  Dr. Marti, a couple of questions for you.  I understand from your curriculum vitae and your examination in-chief that you are employed by Hydro One and have been employed by Hydro One continuously for some 25 years?

DR. MARTI:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it the testimony that you are contemplating providing today is being given on behalf of Hydro One and reflects your employer's perspective?

DR. MARTI:  It reflects my technical opinion.

MR. SMITH:  And Hydro One filed evidence on April 12th.  Are you aware of that?

DR. MARTI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And were you involved in the preparation of that evidence?

DR. MARTI:  Parts of it.

MR. SMITH:  And is it your intention to limit your comments here today to what's filed in the pre-filed evidence?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think that's an unfair question to ask of the witness.  I will be examining him in-chief, asking him some questions in particular with respect to the testimony of Union's expert.  And if anybody involved in the proceeding feels that I'm asking a question outside of his expertise, Dr. Marti's expertise, it's open to objection.  Otherwise, I expect to conduct the examination as I normally would.

MR. SMITH:  Sir, have you provided an acknowledgment of expert's duty consistent with the Board's rules of practice and procedure?  I'm not aware of Hydro One providing such an acknowledgment of expert duty, but have you signed one?

MR. ENGELBERG:  We have not brought that to Dr. Marti's attention.  Hydro One is certainly prepared to do that.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I don't think he is in a position to sign it, which it will be the subject of argument.

MR. ENGELBERG:  If it is going to be Union Gas's position that somebody with expert knowledge who is employed by a party to the proceeding is not an appropriate expert, I would suggest that that is not the Board's practice in the past.

Dr. Marti answered the question that he will provide evidence that reflects his opinion, despite the suggestion that he will say whatever it is that Hydro wants him to say.  He is under oath as an expert, and I ask that the Board accept his evidence as such.

Hydro One is entitled to provide the Board with a commentary, and full answer and defence to the commentary and opinions of the expert submitted by Union Gas, and it will be unfair to deprive Hydro One of the right.

MR. SMITH:  I don't think it's a question of fairness, and I don't think it's a question of depriving Hydro of anything.

The Board's rules of practice and procedure are clear on this point.  They mirror the Ontario rules of civil procedure as those rules have evolved.  As the Board may be aware, in 2010 the Ontario rules of civil procedure changed out of a concern about the independence of experts.  That's no commentary on Dr. Marti, nor should it be taken as a suggestion that he is anything other than a respectable and qualified witness and employee of Hydro One.

Not long thereafter, or about the same time, the Board changed its own rules of practice and procedure to reflect a similar concern about the partisanship of experts.  That's why you have an acknowledgment of expert's duty that has to be signed.

Frankly, until I heard Mr. Engelberg suggest that he intended to qualify Dr. Marti as an expert, that was the first indication I had heard of it and I assumed he would be testifying as a fact witness.  Dr. Marti was not on the initial list of witnesses that Hydro One proposed to call.  It was only last evening that we heard about Dr. Marti's potential involvement.

So it’s somewhat surprising that the indication is that he would be testifying in relation to the pre-filed evidence, because the intention was obviously not to have him as a witness at first instance.

The issue of the independence of experts and whether or not they're appropriate to testify came before the Ontario Court of Appeal in, I believe, 2014 in a decision released in 2015.  I don't have copies, because I wasn't anticipating having to make this argument.  But I'm happy to get them for the Board.

The relevant decision is a decision called Westerhof v Gee Estate.  That arose because of the meddlesome issue of the treating physician.  So a treating physician in a medical malpractice case is undoubtedly qualified; he or she has expertise.  The question is whether or not that person could be called as an expert to provide opinion evidence because of the problem that they were involved in the underlying facts.

The corollary, of course, or related circumstance is where the person actually works for the entity in question.

What the Court of Appeal held -- overturning a Divisional Court which said that the person can't testify at all, what the Court of Appeal held was it was appropriate for the treating physician to testify in relation to things they actually did.  So why did you do what you did.  Those were all matters of fact.  The person may have performed the surgery in a particular way because that was their area of expertise and they thought it was the right thing to do.

They couldn't then go on to say, "And in my opinion, what I did was right for thus and such reason," because that would be then opinion evidence.

This is the concern we have with Dr. Marti.  He is like the treating physician.  He is not independent of Hydro One no matter what; he is employed by Hydro One.  To the extent he is involved in the underlying SECTR project and involved in what Hydro One has done in relation to the SECTR project, I have no concerns about that.  What I do have concerns about, though, is it does fall afoul of the Court of Appeal's rule in Westerhof and, in my submission, the Board's own rules as they relate to the independence of experts.

If he is going to be providing opinion evidence, and certainly opinion evidence that goes beyond what's set out in Hydro One's evidence -- which is why I asked the question, frankly, because we don't have anything from Dr. Marti specifically that tells us what his opinion is, or what he is going to testify to if it goes beyond what's set out in the pre-filed evidence.  And even if it's confined to that, in my submission, it wouldn't be appropriate to accept him as an expert.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Engelberg?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, it was only a couple days ago that Hydro One received an email from Union that a member of the witness panel would be Mr. Gummow.  Hydro One did not object to that.

Dr. Marti is here in response to the fact that Mr. Gummow is here.  My submission to the Board, with respect, is that Dr. Marti’s testifying here today does comply with the Court of Appeal decision.  And in any event, he is here to assist the Board, explain some things and the Board, in my humble suggestion, should listen to what Dr. Marti has to say and determine as a matter of argument -- my friend will make submissions and I will make submissions, and the growers will make submissions.  There can be submissions in law as to whether in fact it is expert evidence and what weight should be given to it.

But now we're all here today to do this hearing and get it done, and I suggest that Dr. Marti be permitted to testify within those defined the areas that I stated he will be testifying in.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, would it be helpful if I -- this is the type of thing that Board Staff would normally weigh in on, and unfortunately I didn't recognize we would have this issue today.  So I’m speaking a bit off the cuff.  In fact, I don't even have my set of rules with me today.

My recollection is -- Mr. Smith is right.  The rules were recently tightened out of a concern that we wanted to make sure experts were truly independent.  That said, to the best of my recollection, there is no specific prohibition, I don’t believe -- and someone will correct me if I'm wrong -- that a company's own employee could act as an expert in certain circumstances, nor do I believe – again without having it in front of me -- that there is anything in the expert's undertaking to the Board that speaks to who their employer is, other than they would identify that, I believe, as part of that.

I am generally familiar with the Westerhof decision that Mr. Smith referenced, although I haven't read it in a while.  I would point out that the Board of course is not a court, and we certainly look to the courts for guidance in some cases and in many cases, we followed what the courts do.  But those decisions are not binding on you.

So that case is interesting, and you may well look to it for guidance, but it does not bind you, and it's ultimately up to you what evidence you will accept in this proceeding.

It may turn out -- I know Mr. Smith has conceded that Dr. Marti may -- would appropriately be able to speak to some things.  It may be that that dividing line is not entirely clear until we actually hear what his evidence may be.

So again, I apologize that I wasn't quite ready to address this today, but those are my comments.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

I'm proposing to take a five-minute break just to discuss this, and we'll be back at 3:15.
--- Recess at 3:12 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:25 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  The Board will accept Mr. Marti's testimony as an expert, and the parties can address the weight and The admissibility of his testimony in their argument.  And I understand as well he has signed the acknowledgement of expert’s duty form.

MR. MILLAR:  I haven't provided that to him yet, Mr. Chair.  I was waiting on the Board’s official ruling.  I do have a copy, though --

DR. ELSAYED:  I would like to have him sign it, please.  With that, please continue.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Mr. Pastirik.

I would like to begin with you, Ms. Staite.  Can you tell me when Hydro One began working on an environmental assessment for this project?

MS. STAITE:  We officially started the environmental assessment in 2008 with our notice of commencement of the project, where we contacted the stakeholders that would be involved in the project and put a notice in the newspaper at that time.

MR. ENGELBERG:  When was it completed?

MS. STAITE:  It was completed in 2010.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What was the extent of Hydro One's consultations with Union Gas, and others through the years, on the EA?

MS. STAITE:  We met with them several types because of the corrosion study.  But on June 2, 2009, I went out into the field for part of the day with John Shore, the corrosion expert --

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm sorry, he was a corrosion expert with whom?

MS. STAITE:  With Union Gas, or a corrosion person with Union Gas.  And we drove the right of way, because they had an existing pipeline at that time and we wanted to place our transmission line at an appropriate distance away from the pipeline.

So we spent some time – our lines engineer and I spent time with the corrosion person from Union Gas.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Did the gentleman from Union Gas state that he had any concerns?

MS. STAITE:  He wanted a 10-metre separation from the Pipeline.  So we took that information back, and at that point we hadn't -- we were just looking at the best place to put the line.

We did the measurements, the lines engineer and I, and we decided that our best option was probably to look at putting it on the fence line.  And our project team looked at putting the centre line of the transmission right of way along the fence line because in that way, we could stay the 10 metres away from the pipeline and stay out of the agricultural fields.

So the fence line seemed to be an appropriate option.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Did Hydro One stick with that idea of being on the fence line all through the years?

MS. STAITE:  We went back to the municipality and discussed it.  The municipality wanted us to put our towers on the rail bed, but because Union Gas didn't want us on the rail bed, we went on to the fence line.

So we went back to the municipality of Leamington and said that we would -- we were looking at a route on the fence line, and what do you think of that.  And they seemed to be fine with that, and that's where we -- how we sited the centre line of the transmission line.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Was the routing that Hydro One provided as part of the EA process a detailed routing, or a general area routing?

MS. STAITE:  When we got to that point in the environmental assessment report, it was detailed -- because of the rationale for our choice of the centre line, it was detailed.  The environmental report says the centre line will follow the fence line.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What would happen if that routing that you said has been planned all along by Hydro One would need to be changed now?

MS. STAITE:  Then we would have to – we’ve got a letter from the Ministry of the Environment saying that no changes can be made to our facilities or our route, or to the project.  If we were to change the project, then we would have to go back and do consultation with the stakeholders again to get their input into the changes in the project.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Do you begin that process just by going to stakeholders right away?  Or do you first have to go to the Ministry of the Environment and say you want a change?

MS. STAITE:  We have to go to the Ministry of the Environment that we want to make a change, so it’s an involved process.  It wouldn't be -- you get into a lot of dealing with various ministries and Federation of Agriculture and there would be a lot involved in changing the centre line of that right of way.

MR. ENGELBERG:  How long are we looking at, do you think?

MS. STAITE:  There is a risk of the change, because if nobody cared, then it would take us maybe 6 months.  But the farmers in the area wouldn't want the centre line out into their field.  So all somebody has to do is protest to the Minister of the Environment and then -- I have no idea how long it would take, or what would happen, or whether we would be able to move our centre line.

MR. ENGELBERG:  As it is right now, I take it that the Hydro One line is not in the farmers’ fields?

MS. STAITE:  The centre line is on the fence line, which is where we try to do -- when we locate our towers, our priority is to put them on a fence line.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Has Hydro One initiated the process of applying for easements from the municipality?

MS. STAITE:  No, but we've discussed -- the mayor and the council have received correspondence from us, and we discussed with the municipality our project.

We have a demolition permit from the municipality.  They know we're doing detailed planning on the station site, so they know we're working on this project.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Based on what you know, is there any problem you foresee in getting the required easements from the municipality?

MS. STAITE:  They're very happy to have the transmission line in Leamington.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.  I would next like to ask some questions of Mr. Young.  But if Mr. Mazaheri would like to weigh in, there is some overlapping with my questions, so please feel free to answer, whichever one of you is more appropriate.

Mr. Young, what is the reason for the building of the transmission line, and for how long has it been planned?

MR. YOUNG:  As Patty indicated, the project has been planned since 2008.  The purpose of this project is for the significant growth in the Leamington area, largely the greenhouse growth, and this facility will provide that additional capacity to connect all of that load, which is quite substantial.

This facility will also address the reliability issues in the broader Windsor-Essex area.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What has the uptake been on the part of customers?

MR. YOUNG:  The uptake has been quite tremendous, if I can use that word.  In our leave to construct application, we assumed a new load of approximately 40 megawatts.

Since the time of the leave to construct approval -- which was issued, I believe, in July of 2015 -- we have since received nine additional applications, making up another 143 megawatts, so almost three times that.  And that load, with even consideration of diversity, will impact the loading at the new station by almost 100 megawatts, so quite substantial.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You referred to the decision of the OEB granting leave to construct in July 2015.  When did Hydro One apply to the Board for leave to construct?

MR. YOUNG:  We applied in January of 2014.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Was notice provided to Union Gas?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, it was.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Was Hydro One provided with notice of the Union Gas leave to construct application?

MR. YOUNG:  Not that we're aware of.

MR. ENGELBERG:  A lot has been said about concern about the proximity of the proposed new route of the pipeline.  First of all, could you tell me did Hydro One have a concern about the original route that was being proposed by Union Gas until very recently?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, as Patty indicated, when we did our environmental assessment and when we consulted Union Gas at the time to take into their concerns and their considerations, we planned our line to be at least ten metres away from the existing pipeline.  And we continue with that plan with the expectation that the separation between the pipeline and the transmission line would continue to be ten metres.

MR. ENGELBERG:  When did Hydro One -- well, I'll deal with Mr. Mazaheri on that.

Union now says that the separation between the two will be about five metres.  Are you aware whether that's the case from the information you have?

MR. YOUNG:  That -- that's my awareness just very recently.  We weren't aware of this when we were conducting our leave-to-construct, and when Union was conducting their environmental assessment, again we weren't notified, so we weren't aware that conversations were happening that was going to move the pipeline extension more towards the east and not close to the, you know, of the alignment of the existing pipeline.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What is Hydro One's concern about having the pipeline so close to the transmission line?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, Dr. Marti can weigh in, but I'll just give you the quick layman concern is that when a pipeline is too close to the transmission line there is risk of arcing.  There is risk of both temporary and permanent type arcing which can erode the pipe, which can over time damage the pipe or even in some severe circumstances perhaps even puncture the pipe, leading to a situation where, you know, you have a safety issue.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is it Hydro One's practice to have separation between pipelines and transmission lines at five metres or less?

MR. YOUNG:  It hasn't been our practice.  In fact, Hydro One's practice that we're aware of, we have always requested a ten-metre separation whenever there are situations and projects that involve both pipelines and transmission lines.

I'll even cite a couple recent examples.  In 2011 when we did a project in Woodstock area and we discovered that there was a Union Gas pipeline that was less than ten metres away, we made provisions to have that pipeline moved.  Similarly, in 2005, in the Toronto area, where there was -- it was discovered that an Enbridge pipeline was really close to our transmission tower, we worked with them to look for, you know, some potential mitigation measures, because at that point the pipeline was already there.

After some review it was determined that the mitigation measures wouldn't have been successful, and in the end the -- Enbridge moved the pipeline ten metres away.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You said there is a concern that the pipeline could be damaged.  What happens if that happens?  What's the next step?

MR. YOUNG:  If a pipeline is damaged, insulation is compromised, then the pipe itself could be damaged, and over time it could -- the pipe could develop a leak.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And what happens if the pipe develops a leak?

MR. YOUNG:  You have a gas leak, which has the potential for some kind of explosion, potentially.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Does lightning have anything to do with these explosions?

MR. YOUNG:  I'm going to let Dr. Marti answer that one.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, can I -- I'll put that on hold for a while.  I'll try not to skip from witness to witness.

Is Hydro One in possession of information from Union Gas to show that the new location that Union has recently proposed will be five metres away from the Hydro One line during the entire running of the gas pipeline?

MR. YOUNG:  The only information that we have received so far is where the easement Union Gas has with the municipality.  Specifically, we don't have the information for the entire length of the route of where within that five-metre easement that the pipeline would actually sit.

MR. ENGELBERG:  When do you anticipate receiving that information from Union?

MR. MAZAHERI:  So the information we received, it shows the route of the pipeline within the easement, but it's not accurate enough to understand where exactly the easement is.  So -- but you can tell from looking at it that it's not a straight line.  It waves.  So we can't tell accurately how close it is to the edge of the easement.

MR. YOUNG:  In answer to your question, we don't know the time frame yet, but we just haven't received the information.

MR. ENGELBERG:  If the pipeline doesn't run straight, does that mean that its distance from the transmission line will vary according to which point on the transmission line and pipeline we're talking about?

MR. MAZAHERI:  That is correct.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Could it be less than five metres in places?

MR. MAZAHERI:  It could be, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Could it be more than five metres in places?

MR. MAZAHERI:  It could be.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What was Hydro One's understanding as to where the line would be prior to the recent decision by Union to move the line?

MR. MAZAHERI:  So our understanding was that Union is going to follow the original alignment that was proposed years ago, and the latest communication we had from Union Gas was they were following the same running alignment back in August 2014.  That was our understanding.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, I would like to go to a time period a little bit more recent than that.  Let's go to the fall of 2015, October, November, December.  When did Union -- when did Hydro One first hear from Union during that time period?

MR. MAZAHERI:  In December 2015, that was the first time we heard that there is a Union Gas pipeline project.  But there was no information provided.  We just learned that there is a construction of a pipeline, it is coming.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Was there any e-mail correspondence or telephone communication between Union and Hydro One at the beginning of December, middle of December?

MR. MAZAHERI:  Yes, there was.  There was an e-mail from Union Gas to Hydro One real estate that -- stating about the construction of the pipeline, and following that Union was looking to see who the responsible person within Hydro One is for Hydro One project, which was provided to Union back in December.  So my contact information was provided to Union back in December 2015.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In that communication, I think you said it was December 2nd?

MR. MAZAHERI:  December 2nd was the first communication that Hydro One received from Union.

MR. ENGELBERG:  At that time did Union tell Hydro One that Union had decided to move the line from the west side of the corridor toward the middle?

MR. MAZAHERI:  There was no information about the alignment and change.

MR. ENGELBERG:  So was Hydro One still of the belief in December that Union was going to stick with the location on the western side of the corridor?

MR. MAZAHERI:  That's correct.

MR. ENGELBERG:  When did Hydro One find out that Union had a new proposal for the line -- new location?

MR. MAZAHERI:  Well, I had a discussion, phone conversation, with Rob Sharon of Municipality of Leamington.  I believe it was on February 18, and that's when I learned about that, and then following that I sent an e-mail to Union Gas project manager, I guess raised my concerns and asked for information about their drawing and where the proposed pipeline is planned to be.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You said February 18th.  There was no communication from Union in December or January about the new location?

MR. MAZAHERI:  There was communication between Hydro One and Union before February 18th, but there was no information received from Union to show where the new alignment is.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Had you even been given notice that there would be a new alignment?

MR. MAZAHERI:  I didn't know that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, so Hydro One found out on February 18th, I think you said.  Did Union give drawings to Hydro One on February 18th to show where the line would be?

MR. MAZAHERI:  So I guess when I heard about that and learned about that I asked Union, raised my concerns and asked for the drawing.  The drawings from Union was provided to me the next day on February 19th.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And then we've heard there was a meeting on February 25th, and Union says in its evidence that at that meeting, Hydro One agreed to move its transmission line to accommodate Union's proposed new route.  Is that correct?

MR. MAZAHERI:  Hydro One agreed to assess the possibility of moving the lines six and a half metres to the east.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, my question was:  Did Hydro One agree to move it?

MR. MAZAHERI:  No, they agreed to assess the possibility of moving it.

MR. ENGELBERG:  So what happened next?  How did Hydro One assess it?  Did it need further information from Union? What did Hydro One do as a result of undertaking to do that assessment?

MR. MAZAHERI:  Well, so we received the drawings and also following that, we had a meeting on February 25th and we learned that the edge of the easement, from the Union easement, it's going to be, I guess, five metres away – sorry, it's three metres away from our centre line, Hydro’s centre line, and we started to have that discussion with them.

So one of the things that Union wanted to do was to do a mitigation study, and I guess the type of information they needed from Hydro One was not clear.  So there is correspondence back on March 1st between Union and Hydro One that they were still putting together the information that would be required from Hydro One.

We received that information on March 7th, and we were supposed to have a follow-up meeting on March 10th, which later on was postponed to April 1st.  I guess the intention was to discuss the information that's needed by Union in the meeting.

So the meeting postponed, so the discussion also postponed to April 1st.  There was discussion about the information that's needed from Hydro One, and between April 4th and April 6th, there was an exchange of emails between Hydro One’s design engineer and Union's project manager about clarifying the type of information needed, and Hydro One then provided the information to Union on April 13th.

But I learned today, the information we provided was not sufficient and there were additional information needed, because we followed the form -- there was a form that was sent to us to fill out, and we provided the form, filled it out, and again I learned today additional information is needed.

MR. ENGELBERG:  How did you learn that today?

MR. MAZAHERI:  I think someone from Correng that stated that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  I may come back to you and Mr. Young in a couple of minutes, but I have a couple of questions for Dr. Marti.

Dr. Marti, what do you know about the 10-metre guideline in the CSA standard that everyone talks about?

DR. MARTI:  The 10-metre guideline has been the standard since it was initially written in the 90s, and it was reaffirmed in the latest addition which was released in 2013.

There was a lot of discussion about the 10-metre guideline, and the main difference between the 1998 version and – sorry, the 2000-something version and the 2013 version was that it was still a 10-metre guideline, but it could also allowed to be higher if studies showed that that was the case, and that was to accommodate those utilities that do not use sky wires for lightening protection.

So the spirit and the wording was very similar between one and the other.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What does the 10 metres seek to prevent?  Mr. Young touched on it, but he said you might have more to add.

DR. MARTI:  The scenario that is considered in this situation as a valid contingency is the following.  You have a lightning stroke hitting the transmission tower.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is that something that happens frequently, rarely, never?

DR. MARTI:  It happens all the time.  Sometimes a lightning strike is sufficiently large that it can cause a flashover – when I say a flashover, you have a short-circuit across the insulators.  So the lightning current can actually go direct to ground and the power, the AC normal current, can actually make contact to the ground through the arc caused by the lightning strike.

So when lightning hits the tower -- and let's say it hits the sky wire, which is what happens most of the time -- two things can happen.  One thing will always happen.  The lightning strike will go to the ground through the structure, through the grounding.  Once it's in the ground, it creates a large voltage gradient and there is -- and if there is an object at the zero potential, say like a pipeline, it will go towards it and, generally speaking, it will cause damage on the coating.

But the lightning strike surprisingly doesn't have so much energy as 60 Hearst fault does by orders of magnitude.  So normally, if only the lightning strike hits and it’s not followed by a 60 Hearst arc, all you do is damage the coating and create a hole there.

The other thing that can happen is that if the lightning strike is sufficiently large, it's followed by a power fault.  When its followed by a power fault, then you still have your lightning strike reaching out to the pipe, but now it's followed by the 60 Hearst one.  And it starts to eat away at the metal, depending on the intensity of the fault current.

The study that was mentioned earlier this morning, the CA study on power line ground fault effects on pipelines has a section detailing how much metal is removed, depending on the current and the amount of current in the fault – or the magnitude of the current in a fault.

So to shorten the story, you have lightning strike, it's followed by an oak, a 60 Hearst arc, and it's important that arc be sustained for at least 400 milliseconds.  If the arc extinguishes too soon, it damages not as much.

So there are three things that can happen.  This study from CA looks at sustainable arc, the one that does the most damage, and then arcing distance where arc can happen, but it simply does not stay and it doesn't do that much harm.  Does that answer your question?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, it does.  And everything that you and Mr. Young have said so far talks about damage to Union's pipeline.  Other than damage to their pipeline, which I suppose Union can repair, is there any other kind of concern?  Is there a safety concern?  Is there damage possible concern to the transmission line?  What can happen?

DR. MARTI:  As Mr. Young mentioned, if sufficient material is removed or if a hole corrodes over time, it can create a gas leak.  And depending on the conditions, there can be an explosion.

MR. YOUNG:  And the explosion is to primarily public safety.  But potentially, if it’s close enough to our transmission tower, it could also damage Hydro One's as well.

DR. MARTI:  I would argue if it's close to the footing, it's going to be close to the tower.

MR. YOUNG:  Fair enough.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Union's expert seems to be confident that Hydro One and Union can work out a reduced limit lower than the 10 metres, and 5 metres will be okay, and that even less will be okay.

Does Hydro One have confidence in that result?

DR. MARTI:  It was not confirmed this morning that -- and I don't know if there was a request that that be confirmed, that the formulation and methodology to do these assessments on safe distance are based on this report from Powertech or CA.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Would you identify what report you're referring to?

DR. MARTI:  I think I mentioned it a few minutes ago.  It’s CA report 239T817, power line ground fault defects and pipelines.  So this report presents what I can call a series of formulas derived empirically to try to extrapolate to larger distance -- what the safe distance would be.

It was limited; it had a number of limitations.  Some of the assumptions were limited by the fact that their lab was relatively modest where the tests were done.  And on the basis of that I'm not very confident.  It would have to be done taking into account the various assumptions and the various formulas.

There's a number of formulas in that report, some pertaining to high current, some pertaining to low current, some pertaining to certain types of soil, some pertaining to some other variables, soil impedance.  I know it sounds like I'm doing techno-babble, but it is a fairly complex report to use.

So I'm perfectly happy to see how it's used and evaluate the results and look at it critically.  I know that when the CSA standard was being discussed and revised this report came to the fore.  Why have an uncertain ten-metre threshold when you have four metres here that will definitely give you a number.  And --


MR. ENGELBERG:  When you say will definitely give you a number, do you mean a --


DR. MARTI:  Well, if it -- no, it will give you a number.  If you plug in your distances or your voltages in the formula it will give you a number, but certain things were questioned.  The extrapolation was questioned, and the values at very low currents were also questioned, and if you were to look at the curves I could probably point out the subtleties and whatnot.

Some things -- for instance, there is a 50 percent difference in the -- 52 percent difference, thereabouts, in the distance that you would get if you assume a large current or a low current.  What would happen in an in-between current?  This doesn't address it.

So it is my understanding, actually, that there is a consortium of utilities that pool the resources to do research, and that's called CEATI, and they have initiated a project to look back into this and see what's good, what can be improved, and where to go from here.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You said a few minutes ago that one of the possibilities is that despite the ten metres specified in the CSA standard that sometimes it would be more than that, so I want to ask you, did you -- or perhaps Mr. Young, perhaps you're the person to answer it -- do you have concerns about where Union originally proposed to build its line until telling Hydro One in mid-February of this year that it wanted to move the line when it was on the west side of the right-of-way?  Does Hydro One have concerns with that as well?

MR. YOUNG:  No, because that would have made the separation distance more than ten metres.  It would have just been approximately 11 metres.  And given that our line design includes a sky wire, we believe that the ten metres is appropriate.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I have no further questions of the panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

Just -- I want to take a time check here.  It's almost four o'clock.  Mr. Smith, rough idea as to how long you need?

MR. SMITH:  Well, if my mic doesn't turn on...  Oh, there we go.

I think I'm probably going to be the half an hour that I thought I was.  I might be a little bit less.

DR. ELSAYED:  And Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Five or ten minutes, I expect.  We may need to reassess at the end discussion with Mr. Smith whether it still makes sense to do the argument in-chief today.  I don't know what his thoughts are.  But it's already taking us close to 4:45.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah.  And Mr. Buonaguro, any idea of how long?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would only have a couple questions at most.

DR. ELSAYED:  All right.  Let's proceed, and as Mr. Millar suggested, if we cannot accommodate argument in-chief today we can probably discuss other options.

Okay.  So Mr. Smith, over to you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.

Let me start -- I believe these will be questions, I believe, for you, Ms. Staite, and perhaps Mr. Mazaheri, but if I have that wrong, obviously, members of the panel, feel free to chime in as appropriate.

I want to make sure that I understand Hydro One's position in this case clearly.  The first is as it relates to the location of your transmission line and the potential consequences of relocation.

So as I understand your evidence, you say that in July of last year you received leave to construct from this Board, and that included an underpinning environmental assessment.  Have I understood that correctly?

MS. STAITE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that you say that as a result of those approvals you can't deviate from your proposed positioning and if you do there will be additional cost and delay?

MS. STAITE:  An additional risk, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think you actually say it's going to cost money and will take time.

MS. STAITE:  Yeah.  Yeah.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And do I understand your evidence to also be that your transmission line has to be on that fence line, as you called it, the property line?

MS. STAITE:  That is the centre line unless, if we move the centre line, then we have to do public consultation again and go back to the Ministry of the Environment and tell them we would like to make a change.

MR. SMITH:  And that reality was fixed, as it were, in July of last year.

MS. STAITE:  No, it was fixed when we got the environmental approval, the environmental assessment --


MR. SMITH:  So when was that?

MS. STAITE:  -- completed.  2010.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So your position, as I understand it then, is you've been locked into this position for six years or thereabouts?

MS. STAITE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  We heard this morning, and you were in the room, some considerable cross-examination from your counsel of the Union's witness about the timing of various communications.  Do you recall that?

MS. STAITE:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that was explored this morning -- sorry, this afternoon with you or with Mr. Mazaheri about who said what to whom or didn't, if I understood your counsel's suggestion clearly, in December of 2015.  Do you recall that?

MS. STAITE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So the suggestion was put, well, you didn't tell Union in December -- you didn't tell Hydro One that you had planned on moving your pipeline to Union when you first made that decision, call it December 2015.  Do you recall that line of examination?

MS. STAITE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Well, let's imagine Union had told you.  If I understand your testimony, that wouldn't have mattered to Hydro One's proposed route, because you're locked into that route and had been locked into that route since 2010, correct?

MS. STAITE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So the cross-examination about whether you got an e-mail or a phone call in December, you couldn't have moved your line.  In January you couldn't have moved your line, correct?

MS. STAITE:  No.  No, we can't move our line.

MR. SMITH:  Right, and you couldn't move it in November, you couldn't move it in October, you couldn't move it in any month prior to that.  It's totally irrelevant to whether or not you could move your line, isn't it?

MS. STAITE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. YOUNG:  But if I may add to that, what is more relevant, perhaps, is that during the time when Union began their environmental-assessment discussions and were contemplating the change in the line, if at that time they had contacted Hydro One, then perhaps that would have informed further constraints on perhaps Union's planning prior to Union going to seek easement agreements.

MR. SMITH:  Well, would it be better, Mr. Mazaheri, if Union had done its field work and -- sorry, Mr. Young -- and determined that the pipeline preferred routing would be on the east side, as opposed to the west side?  Nobody is going to disagree with that.  But in terms of whether or not your pipeline could move, I think we're pretty clear.  Your transmission line can't move, correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.  But then that would have Informed, I believe, your planning had the discussions happened earlier.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  You're just saying, Union, you should have done a better job and maybe you wouldn't be in this position.  Fair enough; I understand that.  But that's Union's problem.

Hydro One isn't moving its transmission line, and you understand Union is not asking you to move your transmission line, correct?

MR. YOUNG:  I don't know if I've had that stated explicitly.

MR. SMITH:  It's set it fairly explicitly in Union's reply evidence.  You've read that, haven’t you?

MR. YOUNG:  I think in Union's reply evidence it talks to focusing on the mitigation.  But I don't recall it explicitly stating that Union is no longer asking Hydro One to move.

MR. SMITH:  I can tell you Union is not asking Hydro One to move its transmission line, and I understand you can't move.

MR. YOUNG:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Let me ask you just about some information that you've provided, Mr. Mazaheri.  I understand this is perhaps a question for you, but I have -- my apologies.  I have copies of some material.

MR. MILLAR:  This is a new document, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  It's a new document, but perhaps we can have Mr. Mazaheri identify it.

You indicated that you received a request for information from Union; do you recall that?

MR. MAZAHERI:  Hydro One’s line designer received a request for information from Union.

MR. SMITH:  And that request was the request made on March 7th?

MR. MAZAHERI:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And after it had filed its pre-filed evidence in this case, Hydro One provided that information on April 13th, correct?

MR. MAZAHERI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that is the informs reflected on this document here, is it not?

MR. MAZAHERI:  I believe it is.

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we mark that as an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  It's Exhibit K1.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  Document PREPARED IN RESPONSE UNION REQUEST FOR INFORMATION


MR. SMITH:  I just want to make sure that I have this right.  So on April 13th, what you gave Union in the third line is a map showing your transmission line and towers numbers 1 to 28.  Do you see that on the third box there?

MR. MAZAHERI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And if I can ask you down -- item number 6, this is the foundation detail.  So you heard Mr. Grochmal discuss earlier that you were going to have a narrow tower base, and that's what's referred to there the 3.35 metre diameter?

MR. MAZAHERI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And there is in fact a drawing of that on the third page, page 3 of 3, and that's the drawing of the towers, correct?

MR. MAZAHERI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Dr. Marti, perhaps this is for you.  You referred to the CSA standard; do you have that?

DR. MARTI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you indicated, as I understand it, in answer to a question from your counsel that you were a member of the subcommittee on electrical coordination between pipelines and electrical supply lines; do you recall that?

DR. MARTI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  I take it you felt like the people who were on that committee, including yourselves, were all qualified members of the subcommittee?

DR. MARTI:  Membership in the subcommittee is by invitation.  So how individuals feel about themselves is not relevant.

MR. SMITH:  But you're inviting people, people you believe are knowledgeable in the industry.

DR. MARTI:  That's for CA to answer.  But the people around me I respected from a technical point of view, yes.

MR. SMITH:  If you have the standard there, perhaps I can ask you then to turn to page 7 in the bottom, right-hand corner.  Do you have that?  And I see your name second from the bottom; that's you, correct?

DR. MARTI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then if we look up about half the page, we have a Mr. Filch there from Correng Consulting Services Inc., correct?

DR. MARTI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then we had another representative from Correng who is on the committee as well.  That's a Mr. Segal, and he is at the top of page 8?

DR. MARTI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And maybe, so that we have it in the record, you're aware, sir, that Mr. Segal also is a signatory of the letter at appendix or Schedule 5 to Union's letter.  Were you aware of that?

DR. MARTI:  No.

MR. SMITH:  And if we go back -- do you have Union's reply evidence handy?  I would like schedule 4 first – sorry.  If you're at schedule 5, just turn over -- Schedule 5, that's right, page 2 at bottom.  Just for the record, keep going down.  That's the Mr. Segall who is referred to.  But go back to Schedule 4, if we could, please.  And this is an AC interference study on the Union Gas Limited Leamington North pipeline.  Do you see the study by Correng?

DR. MARTI:  Yes I do.

MR. SMITH:  Ms. Staite, am I correct that this study was given to you?

MS. STAITE:  Yes, as a result of the meeting I had with John Shore, we got this commissioned through occurring --Hydro One paid for the study to be done.

MR. SMITH:  Hydro One paid for the Correng study?

MS. STAITE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I take it Hydro One paid for the study and was satisfied with the study?

MS. STAITE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  It certainly didn't question the technical expertise or the knowledge of those people who prepared the study to Union or to Correng, did you?

MS. STAITE:  What we did was we got the study done for the existing pipeline, to find out what would have to be done for mitigation for the pipeline and when our transmission line was built.

MR. SMITH:  Not quite responsive to my question.

DR. MARTI:  Perhaps I can answer the question?

MR. SMITH:  Just one moment.  I’ll come to you in a minute, and I'll give you every opportunity -- and believe me, if I don't, your counsel will pick me up on it.

But you didn't communicate to Correng or to Union that Correng was not qualified to perform this AC interference study, did you?

MS. STAITE:  They were recommended by Union Gas.

MR. SMITH:  You didn't say to Union or to Correng that you didn't consider them to be qualified to do this study, did you?

MS. STAITE:  I don't understand the question.  I’m sorry.

MR. SMITH:  Well, you never said thank you for the recommendation, Union, for Correng.  But we don't think they're up to this type of job.

MS. STAITE:  No, we didn't say that.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Dr. Marti, I just wanted to draw to your attention that the reviewer of this report appears to be a Mr. Filch, who I take it you recognize is the person on the subcommittee with you?

DR. MARTI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Now, when you received the report, who did you give it to?

MS. STAITE:  Our special studies group.

MR. SMITH:  You gave it to Dr. Marti?

DR. MARTI:  My staff.

MR. SMITH:  Your staff.  Was there any work product that came out of that that was ever given to Correng or Union?

MS. STAITE:  Sorry?

MR. SMITH:  Was there work product that came out of the special studies group that you were given to give to Union or Correng?

MS. STAITE:  No, because why the study was done was because there was an existing pipeline, so we wanted to know what mitigation would have to be done by Union Gas so we could put it in our budgets and -- for the existing pipeline, so we were -- this was as we discussed before how we were planning our route being close to the pipeline.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  I think the simple answer to my question is that there was nothing back to Correng or to Union after the receipt of it.  You got it, you gave it to Special Studies, you didn't communicate back to Union or to Correng.

MS. STAITE:  Well, we haven't built our line, so they have got a copy of the study.  We have a copy of the study.

MR. SMITH:  Oh, you have -- you're right.  It's...

MS. STAITE:  So I don't know.  Sorry.

MR. SMITH:  You haven't yet built your transmission line.

MS. STAITE:  No, so we are where we are.

MR. SMITH:  And you've still never communicated any concern about Correng.  Okay.

Dr. Marti, you were going to say something.  Why don't you say what you were going to say?

DR. MARTI:  I was going to point out that perhaps we should be more precise when we talk about the AC interference study and the issue of this -- the arcing distance between pipelines and footings.  So one is a subset of the other sometimes, and this is one example where it was -- the report states there is no need to look at arcing distance issues because it's 18 metres.  Therefore, it doesn't matter.  Everything else which is the normal things that are done in induction condition studies, such as making sure that the stress across the flanges is okay, the GPR is okay, inductive problems are okay, fault and inductive problems are okay, all of that is here.

MR. SMITH:  Why don't I take this opportunity to just make sure the record is clear about this, because I'm not sure that it was entirely.

As I understand it, the separation -- the recommended separation distance of ten metres is to address this issue of arcing, and that if you're outside of that ten-metre distance there isn't a concern about that.  Have I understood that correctly or not?

DR. MARTI:  That is correct.  As the standard says, if you are outside ten metres and you do have sky wires it is a conservative estimate and you are okay.

MR. SMITH:  And it's just a recommendation, and the standard does contemplate that the distance could be shorter, correct?

DR. MARTI:  That is correct.  It also contemplates that the distance could be longer.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  We're only concerned in this case about shorter, but it could be shorter or greater, correct?

DR. MARTI:  I made the distinction because it is substantial deviation from the previous version of the standard.

MR. SMITH:  And what it says in the standard, sir, is that ten metres is recognized to be a conservative figure, correct?

DR. MARTI:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And "conservative" means beyond that there is less concern in that direction.  "Conservative" means, you know, ten is fine, actually could be less.

DR. MARTI:  Ten is fine, 12 is better.

MR. SMITH:  Right, and as I understood your answer, Mr. Young, you said you weren't concerned about Union's initial route because it was going to be ten metres away and ten metres away you weren't concerned about it.  That's what you said, correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  All right.  Sir, Dr. Marti, you heard Mr. Gummow in his evidence testify about his view as to what the safe distance could be, correct?  Safe separation could be.  Do you recall that evidence this morning?

DR. MARTI:  I recall hearing said that you can have any separation you want.  There is nothing you cannot mitigate.  That's what I heard.

MR. SMITH:  You're also aware of his letter in which he indicates the separation could be as low as three metres and maybe lower.

DR. MARTI:  I saw the statement, but without having the benefit of knowing where those calculations came from it's just a statement.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I wanted to ask you about that, funny enough.  Dr. Gummow -- sorry, Mr. Gummow indicates in his letter -- and he testified to this as well -- that he had done some preliminary calculations.  Do you recall that evidence?

DR. MARTI:  It does not say what kind of calculations are, calculations to figure out what is an appropriate separation.  It doesn't say calculations using this model, this standard, this guideline.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, we may be missing each other.  This was a lead-up to, you have the information from Hydro One, because it's the information that's already been provided by Hydro One to Union.  My question to you is, what calculations have you done?

DR. MARTI:  We have not done any calculations with regards to what the safe distance was or could be.

MR. SMITH:  I see.  I see.

DR. MARTI:  Primarily the reason why we haven't done it is because we don't have a set of formulae on which we have sufficient confidence.

MR. SMITH:  How many AC interference studies have you authored, sir?

DR. MARTI:  Authored?  None, but reviewed hundreds.

MR. SMITH:  But you haven't done any of these yourself, have you?

DR. MARTI:  yes and no.  Yes, when it requires a redo because some of the methodology or data is suspect.

MR. SMITH:  I thought I asked you pretty clearly how many AC interference studies you'd authored, and you said none.

DR. MARTI:  Because I assumed that the question meant how many studies have I done for a third party.

MR. SMITH:  And the answer to that is none.

DR. MARTI:  For a third party, no, but internally, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And did you do a review of the Correng study at September -- that's dated September 2009?

DR. MARTI:  I had a quick look, but my staff did.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And what did your staff generate by way of work product?

DR. MARTI:  They did not see concerns and advised environmental accordingly.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, members of the panel.  Those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Mr. Millar?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, and good afternoon, panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I just have a couple of questions left, and I'll start by following up on what Mr. Smith was just discussing with you.

He was going over the CSA standards and how they say ten metres will generally be okay and in some circumstances less than ten metres will be okay.  Did I understand that correctly?  I think your mic was turned off, sir.

DR. MARTI:  That's correct.  It could be okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And one of the things that Union and Hydro One have agreed to undertake is a new AC interference study; is that right?

DR. MARTI:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And let's imagine this study comes back and it shows that the distances currently being proposed by Union are in fact safe.  Would that be enough to satisfy Hydro One that Union's proposed route can coexist with the existing Hydro One alignment, or would something more than that be necessary, from Hydro One's perspective?

DR. MARTI:  From my perspective, I would request that the report provide details on the methodology assumptions, and on the basis of what those are, we have an open mind.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So --


MR. YOUNG:  I would also add that, you know, we would have to be satisfied that the assessments of the mitigation is appropriate and robust, you know, given all these facilities are there for 30, 40, 50 years.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand.  But notionally the AC study is the thing you want done to determine whether or not the distances are safe.  There's not some -- if you're satisfied that the AC study was done well and done rigorously, that will give you the answer you need as to whether or not the proposed separation is adequate.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Let's imagine the AC study comes back -- the interference study comes back and says that, actually, no, at least in some areas the separation currently being proposed is not adequate.  I think I already heard the answer to this from Mr. Smith, but if that were the case, what would Hydro One be asking this Board to do?  What's the remedy that Hydro One sees if the separation as proposed is not adequate?

DR. MARTI:  Can I ask for clarification?  Are you just the separation, or separation plus mitigating measures?

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, that’s a good point; plus mitigating measures.  So separation plus mitigating measures, and the AC interference study comes back and says even with the mitigation measures, it's not enough.  There are areas where its too close to be safe.

What would Hydro One be asking of the Board if that were the conclusion?  And if Mr. Engelberg wants to answer, that's fine as well.  It’s a question for the company.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think that's probably a legal question, and I think the answer to that is that Hydro One will be submitting to the Board that there is a safety danger here to the facilities and to the public, and that either leave to construct should not be granted to Union, or alternatively, leave should be granted to Union to construct it at the location on the west side of the Corridor, where Union has rights and where Union has been proposing to construct it ever since 2012 or earlier.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if there is a problem, the solution that Hydro One sees and I think --


MR. SMITH:  So it's clear, we actually don't have rights on the west side, but I understand his position.  But we don't -- that's not an available remedy.

MR. ENGELBERG:  If it's still in the right of way, then I would submit that based on what Ms. Staite said, it won't be a problem to get those rights from the municipality.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe not.  I'm saying we don't have the rights today.

MR. MILLAR:  We can worry about that if and when it happens.  My plain question was:  If somebody has to move, in Hydro One's view, it should be Union; is that right?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, I only have one question, one set of questions.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


In speaking about the 183 megawatts of new load that the transmission line is supposed to serve --


MR. YOUNG:  It’s 143 megawatts of applications.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I added a two.  I think there was 40, and then an incremental 143, which is 183.

MR. YOUNG:  Okay, yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how many customers, individual customers comprise that request?

MR. YOUNG:  I don't have that number with me.  I'm just Familiar -- I believe the first 40 megawatts was a number of application somewhere in the 20 to 30 range, and the more recent applications were for larger customers, anywhere between 2 and 20-ish megawatt range.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I get an undertaking for the total number of customers?  And as part of the undertaking what I'm interested in -- because you mentioned originally, and I am surprised you mentioned specifically, that they were largely greenhouse growers customers.

So what I'm interested in is how many customers there are total, how many of those are greenhouse customers, and then how much of the total 183 megawatts is comprised of greenhouse customers.

MR. YOUNG:  Sure, we can provide that information, but I would have to qualify that and say we would have to provide it on an aggregate basis.  We wouldn't be providing information on individual customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I'm not interested in individual customers, just the SECTR and how much of the SECTR takes up that 183, and the customer numbers, how many customers are up.

On the one side, we have the Union proposed line which has 55 customers, which I think Union has said is entirely growers.  I'm interested to see how many of the 183 on the transmission side is also growers.  Thank you, those are my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  HONI TO ADVISE HOW MANY CUSTOMERS THERE ARE TOTAL, HOW MANY OF THOSE ARE GREENHOUSE CUSTOMERS, AND THEN HOW MUCH OF THE TOTAL 183 MEGAWATTS IS COMPRISED OF GREENHOUSE CUSTOMERS.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Pastirik, any questions?
Questions by the Board:


MR. PASTIRIK:  I have a couple.  Just to be clear, what is the separation between the proposed Hydro One line and the existing phase one Leamington line?

MR. YOUNG:  It's a little over 11 metres.

DR. ELSAYED:  All the way -- at no point is the distance less than 10?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Dr. Marti, you've heard what Mr. Gummow said about the mitigation and the risk.  Do you agree with mitigation, that you can always reach a threshold that can be acceptable from a risk perspective?

DR. MARTI:  I do not agree with the word “always”.

DR. ELSAYED:  So you're saying there could be cases where the risk cannot be mitigated?

DR. MARTI:  There are many circumstances where mitigation cannot be achieved.  It could be high fault current, it could be bad soil, it could be a number of things.

A few years ago for instance, we had an issue with Enbridge and IBMTS, and they tested a new thicker Coating, and we asked will this last the 40 years that the pipe is supposed to last, and they said no.  So in the end, they just directionally drilled underneath the station.

MR. YOUNG:  My understanding is that there was a section of that pipe that was actually sent to a lab to get it tested, to see -- to verify that mitigation measure.

DR. ELSAYED:  Are you aware though of any examples of rupture or explosion or ignition specifically to the proximity of a gas line to a transmission line?

DR. MARTI:  Not in Ontario.

DR. ELSAYED:  Anywhere.

DR. MARTI:  Anywhere?  I have pictures in my class notes of one and in Ontario, although this is comparing pears with almost apples, a few weeks or months ago there was an explosion because a downed wire touched indirectly a gas pipeline.  So there was a leak, there was an evacuation. Fortunately, there was no explosion and ignition.

DR. ELSAYED:  But there was a leak?

DR. MARTI:  There was a leak, and the whole area had to be evacuated.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I guess I'm trying to think of the best case scenario tat I can see as if -- if the study is done and the you're satisfied with the results in terms of mitigation, given the timeline for the study that we've been given and the schedule for both projects.  Can both projects with their timeline, given the duration that is assumed for the study, and assuming the results of the study are favourable?

I guess you can only answer for your project.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, and I guess with respect to study timelines, we ourselves feel that's a bit optimistic, especially if issues are encountered during that study and then more complicated mitigation measures are required and requires more iteration and more discussion, and if more investigation is required, then those study timelines could elongate.

DR. MARTI:  And if I may add a little bit more?  This would be a study that would do the one extra mile which is unusual, which is to look at separation from the point of view of arcing and that's not common, as we even heard this morning.

DR. ELSAYED:  But there is agreement among the parties of the study will go ahead, and we will, I guess, decide the next step once we see what the study results are.

DR. MARTI:  That's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Mr. Engelberg, your redirect to the panel?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I have no redirect, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So now it's 4:30 and I think, Mr. Smith, you estimated 30 minutes for your argument in-chief.  So we have two options depending on the parties.  We can do it now and hopefully finish by five o’clock, fifteen minutes late, or we can do the argument in-chief in writing.  What's your preference?

MR. SMITH:  My preference is always to heed the audience's desire and bearing in mind the reporter's preference, who is the person working hardest here.

I don't think I'm going to be 30 minutes.  This is a focused hearing and notwithstanding the amount of time we've spent today, there are really only two issues.

So I wouldn’t propose -- what I'm concerned about is if we put it off to writing, I might write something that's unnecessarily long, that touches all of the aspect of the usual leave to construct proceeding.  I don't think that will be particularly helpful to the Board in this case.

So I thought it might be just useful if I kind of hit the highlights orally.  And if you give me 5 or 10 minutes, I can probably organize my thoughts and do that.  But I'm certainly -- if you thought it would be more helpful to you, I'm certainly more than happy to do it by way of writing.


So whatever you'd like, I'm perfectly happy to do.  The real time constraint isn't argument, of course, it's going to be this AC interference study, so if you push us off and I have to do it in writing, it's not going to really -- I don't think it's going to matter, but whatever you'd like.

DR. ELSAYED:  So how long do you need for a break?

MR. SMITH:  Five minutes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Five minutes.  Are you okay?  You're sure?  Okay.  We'll take five minutes, and assuming --

MR. SMITH:  And everyone else can leave.  That's what always happens.  I'm used to it.

DR. ELSAYED:  I will listen to you.

MR. SMITH:  Don't worry, I'm used to it.


DR. ELSAYED:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  We'll resume at 4:40, I guess.
--- Recess at 4:35 p.m.

--- On resuming at 4:44 p.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, Mr. Smith?
Closing Argument by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair, members of the Board.  I do appreciate the Board's indulgence in being able to deliver argument orally, and I hope that it speeds things along.

As the Board will know, this is an application by Union pursuant to section 90 of the Ontario Energy Board Act for leave to construct a natural gas pipeline and ancillary facilities to serve the growing greenhouse market in the municipality of Leamington, and that is a point that I will return to later in my argument.

The proposed expansion project consists of 6.7 kilometres of NPS 12 natural gas pipeline, 250 metres of NPS 16 natural gas pipeline, and 60 metres of NPS 8 natural gas pipeline and ancillary facilities.

Let me begin with project need.  Additional natural gas service is needed to serve the growing greenhouse market in the Leamington and Kingsville area.  The project has the support of the municipality of Leamington and also, as you will have seen in the record, there is a letter of support in relation to the project from the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers Association.

Union held an expression of interest which was over-subscribed.  The subscription was for firm service and as you heard the evidence today, that's the service that customers are interested in receiving -- also a point I will refer to later.

Union entered into negotiations with 55 greenhouse growers for the additional capacity.  All of that capacity has now been contracted for.  You will have seen that in the updated evidence.  We now have contracts with all of the customers, substantially all of whom are contract rate class customers -- that is M4, M5, M7 customers.  There are three, I believe, who will be smaller volume and not otherwise contract customers and they have entered into what's referred to as letters of agreement.  And the letter of agreement is actually -- the form of it is available in the record in answer to a Board Staff interrogatory.

To Union's knowledge, it's not aware of any concerns with respect to the contracting methodology that were expressed by any of its customers, and of course the customers have all entered into the contracts.

The one thing I would say about the contracts at this point is the volumes underpinning the contracts reflect real volumes that the customers anticipate to consume.  In other words, the contracts are nothing more than a contractual commitment to do what the customers have said they plan on doing.  And that matters.

We spent a good chunk of today talking about costs and economics.  Let me just say a few words about that.  In terms of the costs themselves associated with the project, there was no cross-examination as to whether or not the costs were properly calculated, and I take that point, at least for now, not to be contested.

You heard Mr. Hockin today talk about how the cost estimates and the approach to modeling are consistent with the approach that Union has taken in past projects for many, many years.

I did want to draw your attention to the Leamington decision that Mr. Millar referred to in his cross-examination.  You should have that on the dais; it is EB- 2013-0365.  We have an outstanding undertaking -- do you have that?  We have an outstanding undertaking to provide some information in relation to this.

But the salient point I wanted to draw your attention to for the purposes of argument is at page 14 of the decision.  There, the Board writes in the second paragraph:  "Accordingly, it was appropriate for Union to require a contractual commitment or up-front payment from each greenhouse grower to ensure that the costs of the pipeline borne by the customers that caused them to be Incurred.  In the absence of such a commitment, Union would be faced with the risk of collecting less revenue than was required to fund the project.  The deficiency in revenues would then have to be recovered from other ratepayers."


The important point out of this decision and the evidence you heard today is that this is a pipeline that is being built to meet specific demand.  This isn't a generalized distribution pipeline to serve a city or whatever municipality.  This is a pipeline where we have a targeted group of customers who have come to Union and have said we want you to build a pipeline, and we are prepared to take the capacity and take all of the capacity that is created by that pipeline.

In Union's respectful submission, in those circumstance where a defined group of customers causes the utility to build a pipeline that, as in this case, is fully subscribed, it is entirely appropriate that those customers pay the cost associated with that pipeline.

That cost should not, in my submission, be borne by Union any more than it should be borne by other ratepayers who did not cause the utility to build the pine line.

How does that manifest itself in this case?  It manifests itself in this way.  You heard discussion today about the overall project economics and at 1.11 being the PI.  You also heard how the contractual commitments were entered into.  The contractual commitment for the customers was determined to set their PI at 1.0, so the only commitment they're obliged to make is that they commit to cover the costs associated with the pipeline.  And in my submission, that is entirely appropriate.

Why then is the PI greater than 1?  Well, it was identified in answer to your question, because Union has used a 10-year revenue forecast and because, on average, you get a contract length less than 10 years, if you assume those volumes in the outer years, then you're going to have a PI greater than 1.  That's just the math of it all.  There is nothing fancy about it.  But nor is there nothing nefarious.

I took Mr. Millar's cross-examination and I could be wrong about this; we'll see in his argument.  And I took my friend, Mr. Buonaguro's, cross-examination to in some way suggest that because the overall PI is less -- is greater than one, that should have some impact on the contractual duration.  And frankly, I don't understand that argument because that ultimately puts either Union or other ratepayers at risk of non-recovery and, in my submission, that's totally inappropriate.

To the extent there is a suggestion that Union is somehow better off as a result of that and it has mitigated its risk, I would just like to play that out a little bit.  We know in this case that the contractual term is -- I think it's in the high 8s, a little bit less than 9 years, say.  We are in 2016; Union has to rebase in 2019.  So we're looking at contracted volumes all the way up to rebasing.

After rebasing, or at rebasing, Union is going to have to prepare a forecast of its revenues through the period, and I'm quite certain that everyone will argue that what ought to be included is the revenues associated with this project.  That actually puts Union at risk.  It's asymmetrical.  What happens after the contracted period, contractual period, is over is if the customer consumes, great, that's included in the forecast of Union's revenues over the IRM period, which serves to lower rates for all ratepayers.  It's not money in Union's pocket.  But if they don't consume, of course, then Union is at risk for that.

So in my submission, there is nothing at all inappropriate about this, and the contracting strategy just to make sure that those people who caused the project to be built should bear the cost, and it's not more magical than that.

Let me turn to a related issue, the issue of interruptible volumes and whether or not interruptible volume ought to be included in the project economics, and we know the math if they are.  That drives down the contractual term.

First of all, this project isn't being built to respond to interruptible requests.  So in my submission, when you cut through it all, that's just another way of saying firm customers who are the parties who caused this pipeline to be built should have some of the cost taken by other customers, of whom there are none.

The other point I wanted to make about interruptible revenues -- and I hope this came through in the examination today, but the evidence is all in the record.  It's not a secret.  Union was in front of this Board at its stakeholder conference on April 13 talking about this.  Union has another project coming along, which is the Panhandle project.  The Panhandle project will be coming into service in 2017 if all goes according to plan.  Customers have expressed an interest in firm demand.  If you want firm demand and capacity is created by the Panhandle project, that's where you're going to go, and that's where those revenues should be attributed.  That's why you heard Mr. Hockin say there aren't interruptible demands that will exist in years 2 to 10, because all those customers who might have increment -- interruptible demand actually have indicated they want firm demand.  So if they can get firm that's what they're going to contract for.  That's the Panhandle project.  That's why it would be wrong to include interruptible volumes, revenues from interruptible volumes, as part of the project economics.

So in my submission, the economics have been prepared entirely appropriately.  The right customers are bearing the right costs, and all they are doing is contracting for those volumes which in any event they say they need, so if they live up to their own forecasted operations, then this is a complete non-issue, and I would say about the variety of hypotheticals that were put to the witnesses, they don't have a grounding in the main in the evidence, and I hope that came through in the cross-examination.

Let me just talk about facility planning.  There is obviously in the pre-filed evidence evidence about, for example, project alternatives that could have been considered.  There was also consideration of what the Panhandle system could handle, and ultimately that led to the proposed facilities, their size, and all of that obviously is reflected in the evidence.

Let me just while I'm talking about facility planning talk about the Hydro One issues.  Obviously it's premature to talk about the result of the AC study, the AC interference study.  I don't know what it's going to say.  I do know what Mr. Gummow believes will be the result of it, but we'll leave that for another day.

I think the important point for today's purpose is -- I hope this came through in the cross-examination, but respectfully, I would say the cross-examination directed at whether or not Union could have communicated the fact that it had concluded that the pipeline should be on the east side instead of the west side at the beginning of December, as opposed to February, none of that ultimately matters to the decision that you have to make.

Union is not asking Hydro One to move.  It is a complete distraction, in my submission, all of that cross-examination and all of that back-and-forth.  What really matters now is Union's proposal to locate the pipeline roughly five metres from Hydro One's transmission line and is that appropriate having regard to what the AC interference study tells us.  That's it.  That's the entire issue.  Would it have been better if Union had done its detailed planning earlier?  In hindsight, sure.  Nobody is disputing that.  It will always be better to have done things earlier, and particularly in this case.  But does it actually matter?  No, it doesn't actually matter to the issues that you have to decide.

So I covered off design and construction.  Union is going to follow its standard construction practice.  The project will be intended to meet or exceed the relevant code that relate to the construction of a pipeline.

Environmental impacts, you have the environment assessment.  It's not anticipated that there will be any adverse environmental impacts, and I'm glad the question was asked, that you asked the route that is the route that Union is proposing along the rail corridor is the route that's reflected in the environmental assessment, so there are no concerns about going back for a different EA at all.

Landowner matters, all permanent and temporary land rights to construct the project have been obtained and Union will follow its usual land-relations practice to ensure that landowners are informed of the project and have access to Union's project personnel as needed.

First Nations and Metis, they -- local First Nations monitors have been involved with the archeological studies.  We don't anticipate any issues in relation to those.

And there was just finally -- I know it's an issue that sometimes comes up relating to conditions of approval.  There is an interrogatory that asks whether Union has any concerns with the proposed conditions of approval, and Union has indicated that it does not.

Let me just take a moment.

With respect, those are the submissions I have in argument in-chief, subject to any questions that you may have about anything that I've said or you've heard today.  I'm happy to take them.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Pastirik, any questions?  MR. PASTIRIK:  No questions.   DR. ELSAYED:  No, we don't have any questions.    MR. SMITH:  In terms of the undertakings, just for the benefit of the record and the panel and those parties who are here, we expect we will have those at the beginning of next week.  I believe the Board's procedural order contemplates argument two weeks from today, so I hope that that's sufficient for everybody.  Obviously we won't sit on them, and if we have them done earlier we'll get them out earlier.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  With that, thank you, everyone, for your patience, and we're adjourned.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:03 p.m.
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